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Strength doesn’t come from broad gestures. It doesn’t come from grandiose statements or 

dramatic posturing. No, strength comes from a willingness to get better every day. We are 

driven by the values we want to define us. Quality, service and innovation. Values our customers 

count on, our dealers rely on and our employees build on. At Snap-on, this line of value must 

stretch from our suppliers to our customers and is measured one success story at a time.

Snap-on Incorporated
2004 Annual Report
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PEOPLE

Our people are our most important asset, 

and we value them. They are committed  

to creating a more flexible, responsive and 

profitable company. They strive to meet  

a higher standard.

BRAND

The Snap-on family of brands, and the trust 

and confidence they inspire in our customers, 

have been built on quality and innovative 

products that are esteemed and cherished. 

The Snap-on brands speak volumes, without 

using any words at all.

QUALITY

Snap-on® tools have always met stringent 

specifications. They not only last for years, 

they last for generations. Our tools are 

designed with exceptional ergonomics, and 

exhibit superior performance, durability  

and comfort.

What We Value

SERVICE

Snap-on’s success is built on service to our 

customers. They expect us to provide 

reliability and expertise. Snap-on seeks to 

exceed the customers’ expectations before 

they buy, while they buy and after they buy.

INNOVATION

Retaining a leadership position demands that 

we think outside the box. At Snap-on, we  

are not happy unless we are innovating. In 

1990, Snap-on held approximately 90 U.S. 

patents, and several non-U.S. patents. Snap-on 

Incorporated currently holds more than 1,700 

active patents worldwide, with more than  

900 additional applications filed or pending.

INTEGRITY

Integrity is steadfast adherence to a strict 

moral or ethical code. It means honesty. 

Trustworthiness. Reliability. It also means 

authenticity, openness, sincerity. At Snap-on,  

it means being true to these values...living 

these values. Every single day.

PRINCIPLES

What drives our performance? What’s behind 

our success? Quality people, superior  

craftsmanship, top-notch service. That’s our 

legacy. It will endure only if we continue  

to play fair…do the right things…aim for the 

highest standards.
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Let me start by saying that I am delighted to be here. As a 

member of your Board of Directors for the past six years, it’s  

clear that Snap-on is a company with tremendous strengths: 

premier brands, superior products and extraordinary people. 

Today, Snap-on is well respected throughout the world for  

quality and innovation. It is what defines us and distinguishes  

us. The durability, quality and performance of our products  

set the standards for excellence. 

 As an organization, Snap-on has a tremendous amount  

of pride based upon its legacy of success; but, over time, our  

past achievements have made us complacent and too much 

complexity has crept into the organization. 

 Complexity adds costs that our customers do not value and 

gets in the way of delivering to their expectations. As a result,  

we have created unnecessary work for ourselves. It slows  

us down, saps initiative and weakens our focus on the really 

important things like taking better care of our customers. 

 Past success has led us, all too often, to accept the status 

quo. Our emphasis today and going forward is to accelerate the 

pace of change and never allow ourselves to become satisfied, 

but rather to establish a strong and insatiable desire for a better 

and stronger company. We want to achieve new successes, 

further strengthen our brand values, fortify our leading position  

in the marketplace and build a more profitable company. 

 That being said, Snap-on’s people have accomplished much 

to build a solid foundation over the past few years. Continued 

focus on innovation has resulted in us delivering a number of 

significant new, high-value-added products that improve our 

customers’ productivity. Our focus on improving a number of our 

internal processes has resulted in significantly better capital 

productivity, which has led to significant improvements in our 

cash flow. We must now also improve our earnings performance, 

which can only occur by meeting the highest levels of customer 

expectations, while at the same time, reducing complexity to lower 

our costs and allowing for a faster pace of change.

 In the year ahead, we have some simple objectives that  

we need to keep foremost in our minds: take better care of  

our customers, and reduce complexity and costs. These are not 

sophisticated or new concepts that require fancy solutions. 

Rather, it is simple blocking and tackling — paying attention to our 

basics on a daily basis and keeping our eyes on the customer.

 We must understand the needs of our customers better, we 

must satisfy those needs with the highest levels of service,  

and we must do this within a lower cost structure. By setting 

clear priorities, measuring our results each and every day,  

and doing this with greater urgency, we will build a stronger 

company for our shareholders and all our stakeholders. 

 In 2005, the entire organization will focus on these goals.  

A singular focus on improving the supply chain is underway: 

accelerating manufacturing enhancements that allow machines 

to run more efficiently and increase production flexibility, as  

well as improvements in procurement and distribution that all 

together will increase “complete and on-time” deliveries to  

our customers. These projects have the attention of the entire 

organization, and over the course of this year and next,  

we expect to see substantial improvement in our results as  

a consequence of these efforts.

To our Snap-on Shareholders,
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JACK D. MICHAELS

Chairman of the Board, President 
and Chief Executive Officer

In addition, we are working to reduce complexity and drive out 

unnecessary costs. We will work at all levels to simplify  

our tasks. If we’re doing activities that don’t add value for our 

customers, we will end them. 

 In visiting a number of Snap-on facilities during the last few 

months, I’ve told our people that we are not interested in 

activities — we are interested in the results that will satisfy the 

needs of our customers and build a stronger company. And, it  

is by taking better care of our customers, ensuring that we 

continue to deliver the best quality products, and by eliminating 

waste and unnecessary costs that we will drive profitable  

growth. We are confident that our entire organization is aligned 

with these goals and that we can deliver our expected results.

 In closing, I would like to thank all of the people throughout 

the Snap-on organization for their efforts and accomplishments. 

Many improvements have been made and we have a solid platform 

to build on. We know we can count on everyone’s continued 

efforts. Your Board of Directors is also to be acknowledged for 

their strong commitment to Snap-on and their determination  

to see the company prosper and grow.
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And standing by our customers  
positions us for growth. Karl 
Drotning (left), owner of Crystal 
Lake Automotive in Lakeville,  
Minnesota, appreciates that dealer 
J.P. Pomerenke and sales  
manager Dave Carlier are there 
when he needs them.

DELIVERING VALUE TO  
OUR CUSTOMERS

In our franchise business, the line  
of value begins with the Snap-on 
dealer. Our dealers, with additional 
support from their sales managers, 
work hard to meet their customers’ 
changing needs and earn their  
trust. They seek to understand 
customers’ challenges, deliver the 
best solutions, and provide the 
highest level of service. They earn 
the confidence of their customers.  

At Snap-on, we are proud of our long and successful heritage. Yet we know that we cannot 

sit still or rest on our past success. We must continuously advance by diligently focusing on 

product quality, improving service and delivering new innovations in a cost-effective manner. 

We know that focus creates results, and that future success will come from flawless execution. 

We have a strong foundation on which to build, and during 2004, we marked our improvement 

to the Snap-on line of value one step at a time.

The Snap-on Line of Value

Karl Drotning, J.P. Pomerenke

and Dave Carlier
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INTEREST SPARKED WITH  
NEW RETENTION SPARK PLUG 
SOCKET SET

Changing spark plugs is now quicker 
and easier with the new retention 
spark plug socket set. The socket 
features a self-centering patented 
tapered hex design for secure 
manipulation and easy release of 

the spark plug. The unique design 
eliminates the need for rubber 
inserts, magnets or springs, and 
gives the technician better control 
in tight, hard to reach places with 
less chance of insulator breakage. 

Bert Greene

DATA-DRIVEN DECISIONS

Boston area Snap-on dealer Bert 
Greene is enthusiastic about the  
new Dealer Management System. 
Integrated with the system dealers  
use on their vans, the data-driven 
“dashboard” gives dealers a quick 
and easy view of their current 
business performance. Increased 
awareness helps dealers improve 
their planning, and ultimately,  
their results.
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CREDIT PROCESS REVOLUTIONIZED

More than 70 percent of the U.S. 
dealer force has the capability for 
text messaging — an innovative tool 
to help dealers sell more products.  
It provides the ability to receive 
credit decisions from Snap-on Credit 
via text-capable phone or pager  
the minute the decision is made, 

eliminating the need for a dealer  
to call in for decisions. Showing  
the customer the text display with  
the approved Open-to-Buy amount 
builds excitement with the sale. 

THROUGH THE CUSTOMER’S EYES

Sara Scarlato is one of nine  
of Snap-on’s quality people who 
completed our special sales 
representative training program.  
She operated a dealer van from  
July 2003 through March 2004. 

Prior to her sales training, Sara was 
a communications coordinator at 
Snap-on. She is now applying the 
experience and knowledge gained 
towards a new position — marketing 
specialist. Joe Medina, owner and 
operator of J & M 24 Hour Recovery 
and Towing in Kenosha, Wisconsin, 
is one of Sara’s former customers.

Joe Medina and Sara Scarlato
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division vice president — east, and 
Paul Tutskey, division vice 
president — west, are sharing best 
practices and working to bring an 
integrated and consistent approach 
to our sales efforts to help us better 
serve our customers.

ALL THE RIGHT MOVES

Snap-on’s new multi-position 
ratcheting soft grip screwdriver has 
an interchangeable shank and 
operates in zero-, 30- and 60-  
degree locking handle positions with 
the push of a button. The new 
Trans-Drive™ ratcheting mechanism 

(patent pending) offers twice the 
strength of current ratcheting 
screwdriver mechanisms. The 
popular soft grip handle is designed 
for either right- or left-hand 
operation and has a thumb stop  
for power and comfort.

SALES REGIONS REALIGNED 
TO FACILITATE IMPROVED  
CUSTOMER SERVICE

A sales and customer service focus  
is critical to Snap-on’s success, as  
the need to drive profitable growth is 
clearly recognized as a top priority  
for the company. To drive sales force 
integration and alignment, the four 
U.S. regions were consolidated into 
two divisions, each focusing on sales 
and sales planning. Stan Struble, 

Stan Struble

Paul Tutskey
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indicated success for the glossy 
outer cabinets with vibrant drawer 
colors. The Black Lights units  
are available in additional drawer 
configurations in 2005. New color 
combinations are also being 
featured, including black cases  
with “mars red,” “deep blue purple”  
and “crystal blue” drawer fronts.

TECH 
ONLY FOR TECHS;  
AND ONLY FROM SNAP-ON

Tech is an exciting new Snap-on 
magazine recently launched for 
professional automotive technicians. 
It includes topics that directly 
impact technicians’ daily lives, such 
as training and education, health 
and well-being, ergonomics, shop 

safety, financial planning, how-to 
articles, new products, emerging 
technologies and trends, legislation 
and professional motorsports. 

ON THE MOVE

Snap-on has placed a priority on 
improving its working investment 
turns. We achieved 3.2 turns in 
2003 and 3.5 in 2004. This 
improvement freed up significant 
cash, which can be applied to  
other initiatives.

BLACK LIGHTS™ SERIES  

IN THE LIMELIGHT

Color. Reflection. Glisten. And shine. 
A leading seller in Snap-on tool 
storage, the trend-setting Black 
Lights series features extruded 
aluminum alloy drawer fronts that 
are buffed and anodized to radiate 
color and depth. During develop-
ment, focus group feedback 
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WE DON’T JUST SELL TOOLS,  
WE SELL BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

Mitchell1, an industry-leading 
supplier of automotive repair shop 
management systems, has formed 
partnerships with parts distribution 
leaders to facilitate electronic 
aftermarket parts sales. For more 
than two years, Mitchell1 has 
provided customers with Activant® 
electronic cataloging and  

SOLUS™ SCAN TOOL SUCCESS —  

A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH  

TO ONBOARD DIAGNOSTICS

Snap-on’s new SOLUS scan tool 
provides critical diagnostic data 
faster and presents more 
information at once. The SOLUS 
scan tool is ideal for technicians 
and shop owners who need to 
diagnose engines, transmissions, 

brakes, airbags and other controlled 
systems. Customers are able to 
receive instant flash software 
updates straight from the Snap-on 
dealer van, eliminating the need  
for software cartridges. The SOLUS 
scan tool won a Top 20 Tool award 
from Motor magazine in 2004.

e-commerce connectivity to save  
time and reduce labor costs. 
Customers now have instant access 
to availability and pricing from 
preferred parts suppliers using 

Mitchell1’s OnDemand5™ Manager 
shop management system. Upon 
ordering, accounting information  
is automatically posted and 
updated. In many cases, shops earn 
rebates from parts distributors  
that can cover the cost of their 
OnDemand5 Manager.
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FAST AND CONVENIENT 

ON-SITE UPDATES

Software upgrades are now available 
at the customer’s work site with 
Snap-on’s new ScanBay™ system, 
which includes reprogrammable 
cartridges. The ScanBay system is 

maximum flexibility in delivering the 
MODIS System. Leveraging cellular 
manufacturing, Kanban trigger pull 
systems, the Andon® alert system 
and the Model Production Line 
(MPL) concept significantly improves 
complete and on-time deliveries to 
our customers.

being built into dealer vans, providing  
a seamless upgrade path for the 
Snap-on Scanner™ tool and the Color 
Graphing Scanner™ tool.

MODIS™ SYSTEM AVAILABLE  
ON DEMAND

Snap-on’s very popular MODIS 
System is an innovative handheld 
diagnostics platform that allows 
technicians to pinpoint and diagnose 
today’s sophisticated vehicles faster. 
Assembled in and direct shipped 
from San Jose, California, the MODIS 
System is delivered “just in time” to 
meet customer demands. Snap-on 
Diagnostics’ operation team has 
developed a simple visual manage-
ment system that allows for 
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IMAGING ADVANCEMENT  
FOR ALIGNERS

The new John Bean® Ultra V3D 
Imaging Aligner represents the latest 
in automotive wheel alignment 
technology. Its state-of-the-art, high 
resolution imaging system features  
a VODI™ (Vehicle Orientation 
Directional Indicator) interface for 
improved operator efficiency. This 
feature, coupled with a motorized 

positioning system and a unique 
TIP™ optical ride height measure-
ment, provides an advanced, yet 
simple and easy to use system that 
meets the demanding wheel 
alignment requirements of the  
21st century.

A LEGACY OF INNOVATION

Snap-on’s growth and innovation 
target was to generate 30 percent  
of sales from products or services 
introduced within the last three 
years. We were at 15 percent in 
2001, and reached 30.4 percent  
in 2004. Productivity enhancing, 
value-added products provide  
the opportunity for new sales and  
are welcomed by our customers  
to meet their changing needs.
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IMPACT WITH POWER
POWER WITH IMPACT

Snap-on’s new 1/2" drive impact 
wrench features 700 foot pounds  
of torque. It is the only impact 
available with a one-piece light- 
weight magnesium housing, 
ensuring precision component 
alignment for longer tool life.  
The new tool’s patented cushion 

grip absorbs vibration and reduces 
user fatigue, while the dual  
chamber motor delivers maximum 
torque and speed. It delivers power, 
comfort, speed and reliability — all  
in one package.

GREAT PERFORMANCE, 

IMPECCABLE ERGONOMICS

The Rudolit and elastomer handle 
components of Eurotools’ 
technologically advanced IRIMO™  
T-handle screwdriver provide a 
perfect combination of strength and 
ergonomics. The Rudolit component 
optimizes handle-shank assembly, 
making it high impact; the elastomer 

guarantees maximum torque 
transmission due to its strong 
adhesion to the Rudolit material.  
Its long blade for quick tighten-
ing and short blade for final 
tightening provide more torque  
than a standard screwdriver.
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sees hybrid sales climbing to more 
than 500,000 by 2008, from about 
85,000 last year. Snap-on’s 
composites are non-conductive and 
exceed strength and performance 
requirements for standard steel tools. 

ALL YOU’LL EVER NEED  

TO KNOW NOW FITS IN THE  

PALM OF YOUR HAND

Snap-on is the Tier 1 supplier to 
Ford Motor Company in the 
development and production of  
the Vehicle Communication  
Module (VCM), the next generation 
proprietary diagnostics tool for  
Ford and its trust marks. The new 

portable tool plugs into a vehicle’s 
engine management computer, 
replacing a large platform-based 
product. The VCM has been  
released to Ford dealerships and 
affiliates in North America and  
Asia, as well as to trust marks Land 
Rover and Mazda.

SPACE DESIGN EXPERTISE

Snap-on is experiencing success 
with its Build-a-Bay™ program,  
a growing trend in the marketplace,  
in which Snap-on offers its 
capability for unique design and 
layout. By taking a service area  
to a new level, the Build-a-Bay 
program helps build dealerships’ 
brands, and increases consumer 
confidence, employee loyalty,  
and organizational pride and profit.

COMPOSITE TOOL INSULATING 
PROPERTIES MEET HYBRID 
VEHICLE SERVICE NEEDS

Snap-on has a new market growth 
opportunity and is working with car 
manufacturers to provide insulating 
composite tool sets, which are 
needed to safely service electrical 
systems in hybrid vehicles. Such 
vehicles have high-voltage electric 
batteries. J.D. Power and Associates, 
global marketing information firm, 
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RISING DEMAND FOR TECHNICIANS

The Automotive Aftermarket Industry 
Association (AAIA) reports a current 
shortage of seven percent of trained 
technicians in the United States. 
Placement rates are reported to be 
near 100 percent for U.S. vocational 
graduates. The U.S. Department  
of Labor’s Bureau of Labor Statistics’ 
2004-2005 employment projections 
indicate that the need for auto- 
motive service technicians and 

mechanics will grow more than 12 
percent by 2012. To help increase  
the quality and quantity of techni- 
cians entering the automotive field, 
Snap-on works with public and 
private technical schools, as well as 
aids in the development of technical 
education programs nationwide.

PARTNERING TO DEVELOP 
OUR FUTURE

Gateway Technical College in 
Wisconsin, in partnership with  
Snap-on, received a $900,000  
grant from the U.S. Department  
of Labor — Employment and  
Training Administration to upgrade 
and broaden the reach of  
certified automotive training in  
the United States. This grant  

GIVING THE FUTURE A TUNE-UP

BMW’s MetroSTEP program targets 
minority students and offers  
paid internships to students who 
alternate between the classroom  
and service departments of Georgia 
BMW dealerships. The program  
was spearheaded by Henry “Hank” 
Aaron and successfully piloted at  
his BMW dealership in Union City, 

Georgia. Snap-on partners with 
BMW by providing starter tool sets  
to MetroSTEP students. Latricea 
Mosley and Keenan Jones are recent 
graduates of the program, which 
will now be expanded to dealerships 
in Miami and Los Angeles.

is part of a project, Upgrading the 
Nation’s Automotive Programs,  
that seeks to address current and  
future shortages of automotive 
service technicians by increasing 
the number of industry-certified 
schools and instructors.

“This is more than  

a grant  — it is a 

 symbol of Snap-on’s 

leadership in 

 preparing workers  

for attractive jobs 

 in the automotive 

 service field.” 

STEVEN J. LAW
Deputy Secretary, 

U.S. Department of Labor

ANTICIPATED DEMAND  
FOR ADDITIONAL AUTOMOTIVE  
SERVICE TECHNICIANS

Henry “Hank” Aaron,

Latricea Mosley and Keenan Jones

2002 2012

807,000

909,000
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Snap-on and Bahco® tools, and John 
Bean under-car equipment. We  
are building an increasing customer 
base in critical industries and appli- 
cations where quality is paramount, 
including aerospace, natural 
resources, vehicle production and 
auto repair centers.

ORGANIZING OPERATIONS TO 

STRENGTHEN THE VALUE CHAIN

Snap-on holds a strong position  
in European hand tools and is 
forging a clear path to increased 
returns. As part of that program, 
screwdriver production was 
consolidated in the Irazola plant  
in Placencia de las Armas,  

CONTINUED IMPROVEMENT 
THROUGH GLOBAL SOURCING 

Snap-on is taking advantage of low 
cost sourcing opportunities  
available in Asia. In 2004, a Snap-on 
sourcing office was established in 
China to accelerate the corporation’s 
access to low cost components  
and materials. In addition, a new 
production facility was opened in 

Kunshan, China, near Shanghai, in 
July 2004. The new facility now 
produces Blue Point® power tools, 
replacing some of the external  
Asian sources that had previously 

supplied those units. In the future, 
we will manufacture additional tools 
and equipment in Kunshan for the 
global market, as well as source low 
cost manufactured components  
to support existing operations in the 
more developed economies.

LEVERAGING STRENGTH 
FROM WITHIN

Commercial and Industrial tool 
business operations in Europe have 
been integrated to leverage our 
strengths and to create a competi-
tive advantage in key marketplaces 
throughout the region. Under the 
direction of Jean-Pierre Levrey, 
President — European Tools Division, 
the newly aligned organization, 
which includes Eurotools and 
Bahco, will drive combined market 

Spain, resulting in a reduction in 
floor space from 32,000 to 3,200 
square feet. Costs were significantly 
reduced and the combined 
screwdriver operation achieved 
targeted volume. 

32,000 sq. ft.

3,200
sq. ft.

Oh Keh Chai

Jean-Pierre Levrey

BEYOND BORDERS —  

EMERGING MARKETS

Oh Keh Chai, President — Asia-Pacific, 
is leading Snap-on’s penetration  
of emerging economies in the Asia-
Pacific region, and creating a 
framework for the company’s efforts 
to sell in, and source from, these 
important and growing markets. With 
regard to sales, Snap-on has 
established new offices in Beijing, 
Shanghai and Delhi to support  
the expanded position of our high-end 
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LEAN INTEGRATES  
ERGONOMIC PRINCIPLES

Ergonomic principles were integrated 
with the Lean process at Snap-on’s 
Equipment plant in Corregio, Italy. 
The facility reduced overall floor 
space by 52 percent, work-in-process 
by 60 percent and lead-time by 95 
percent. At the same time, employee 
safety and productivity were 

enhanced by using wheeled carts to 
move product in the assembly area, 
and by using hydraulic scissor lifts 
to better match tire changer height  
to employee work level, minimizing 
bending required during assembly.

BAHCO 317 SAW  

ON THE CUTTING EDGE

The Bahco 317 is an ultra-lightweight 
hacksaw with a slim design to 
improve access and reach in confined 
spaces. Its special secondary front 
grip provides guiding hand support for 
superb performance. The Bahco 317 
saw won the red dot award for 

turns quadrupled from four to 16; 
process steps plummeted from 42  
to 12; set-up time was reduced from 
1.5 hours to 0.5; and lead time 
declined from 71 days to 14. One-
piece flow, standard work cells and 
the implementation of pull systems 
allow the plant to respond rapidly  
to customer demand worldwide.

product design in 2004. With more 
than 4,000 entries from approxi- 
mately 40 countries, this award ranks 
among the largest in design 
competitions worldwide, and marks 
winners with an international  
seal of quality for outstanding design. 

share growth, increased regional 
accountability and strengthened 
operating planning and execution. 
The considerable strength inherent 
in the products and people of 
Eurotools and Bahco, and the 
combined commercial and industrial 
synergies, will reinforce Snap-on’s 
strength in Europe and provide our 
customers with the benefits of a 
pan-European tool supplier.

PORTUGAL PLANT BECOMES 

WORLD-CLASS COMPETITIVE

Bahco’s file plant in Vila do Conde, 
Portugal, is Lean, cost effective  
and has achieved world-class 
competitiveness. Within 18 months 
of the first rapid improvement event 
in July 2003, the plant relocated  
127 machines to create 33 work 
cells, reducing inventory by 43 
percent, or $1.0 million. Inventory 



(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2004  2003  2002  2001  2000  1999 

Net sales $2,329.1  $2,233.2  $2,109.1  $2,095.7  $2,175.7  $1,945.6

Financial services revenue 78.1 — — — — —

Total revenue 2,407.2 2,233.2 2,109.1 2,095.7 2,175.7 1,945.6

Gross profit  1,009.3  964.7  964.9  949.0  996.8  896.2 

Operating expenses  945.1  858.4  804.3  898.1  804.9  744.3 

Operating earnings  142.3  150.1  198.3  86.6  230.0  212.4 

Interest expense  23.0  24.4  28.7  35.5  40.7  27.4 

Earnings from continuing operations  120.4  116.7  161.2  47.6  192.6  197.9 

Income taxes  38.7  38.0  58.0  26.1  69.5  70.7 

Cumulative effect, net of taxes  —  —  2.8  (2.5) 25.4  — 

Net earnings  81.7  78.7  106.0  19.0  148.5  127.2 

FINANCIAL POSITION 

Cash and cash equivalents  $  150.0  $   96.1  $   18.4  $    6.7  $    6.1  $   17.6 

Accounts receivable current — net  542.0  546.8  556.2  572.8  603.2  573.8 

Inventories  341.9  351.1  369.9  375.2  418.9  454.8 

Current assets  1,192.6  1,131.7  1,051.0  1,097.0  1,145.1  1,162.4 

Accounts payable  194.9  189.7  170.9  141.2  161.0  146.4 

Current liabilities  674.2  567.2  552.4  549.4  538.0  452.7 

Property and equipment — net  313.6  328.6  330.2  327.7  345.1  362.6 

Total assets  2,290.1  2,138.5  1,994.1  1,974.3  2,069.1  2,160.9 

Long-term debt  203.2  303.0  304.3  445.5  473.0  607.5 

Total debt  331.0  333.2  360.7  474.6  543.3  629.8

Total shareholders’ equity  1,110.7  1,010.9  830.4  775.8  844.0  825.3 

Working capital  518.4  564.5  498.6  547.6  607.1  709.7 

Working investment  689.0  708.2  755.2  806.8  861.1  882.2  

COMMON SHARE SUMMARY

Net earnings per share — basic  $   1.41  $   1.35  $   1.82  $   0.33  $   2.54  $   2.18 

Net earnings per share — diluted  1.40  1.35  1.81  0.33  2.53  2.16 

Cash dividends paid per share  1.00  1.00  0.97  0.96  0.94  0.90 

Shareholders’ equity per share  19.20  17.37  14.27  13.40  14.60  14.10 

Fiscal year-end share price  34.36  31.80  27.72  33.93  27.88  26.56 

Average shares outstanding — diluted  58.3  58.4  58.5  58.1  58.6  58.9 

OTHER FINANCIAL STATISTICS 

Cash dividends paid  $   57.7  $   58.2  $   56.5  $   55.6  $   55.0  $   52.6 

Net cash provided by operating activities  146.8  177.0  224.1  163.7  190.2  235.6 

Capital expenditures  38.7  29.4  45.8  53.6  57.6  35.4 

Depreciation and amortization  61.0  60.3  51.7  68.0  66.2  55.4 

Return on average shareholders’ equity  7.7% 8.5% 13.2% 2.3% 17.8% 16.0%

Beginning in 2004, in conjunction with the consolidation of Snap-on Credit LLC (“SOC”), financial services revenue consists of SOC’s sales of originated contracts and service fee income, as 
well as installment contract revenue and dealer loan receivable revenue derived from SOC and Snap-on’s wholly owned international finance operations. As Snap-on consolidated SOC on a 
prospective basis, previously issued financial statements have not been restated to reflect the consolidation of SOC. Refer to Notes 2 and 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
discussion of the consolidation of SOC.

2002 results include a $2.8 million pretax gain ($2.8 million after tax or $0.05 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for goodwill. Snap-on ceased 
amortizing goodwill and certain other intangible assets in 2002 in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets.” Pretax goodwill amortization totaled $13.9 million, $14.5 million and $11.8 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999. 

2001 results include a $4.1 million pretax loss ($2.5 million after tax or $0.04 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for derivatives. 

2000 results include a $41.3 million pretax gain ($25.4 million after tax or $0.43 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for pensions.

Six-year Data
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Snap-on Incorporated (“Snap-on” or “the company”) was incorporated 

under the laws of the state of Wisconsin in 1920 and reincorporated 

under the laws of the state of Delaware in 1930. Snap-on is a leading 

global innovator, manufacturer and marketer of high-quality tool, diag-

nostic and equipment solutions for professional tool and equipment 

users. Product lines include a broad range of hand and power tools, tool 

storage, saws and cutting tools, pruning tools, vehicle service diagnos-

tics equipment, vehicle service equipment, including wheel service, 

safety-testing and collision repair equipment, vehicle service informa-

tion, business management systems, equipment repair services, and 

other tool and equipment solutions. Snap-on’s customers include auto-

motive technicians, vehicle service centers, manufacturers, industrial 

tool and equipment users, and those involved in commercial applica-

tions such as construction, electrical and agriculture. Products are sold 

through Snap-on’s franchised dealer van, company-direct, distribution 

and Internet sales channels.

Major challenges for Snap-on and the vehicle service and repair  

sector include the increasing rate of technological change within  

motor vehicles and the resulting impact on the businesses of both the 

company’s suppliers and customers that is necessitated by such change. 

Snap-on believes that it is a meaningful participant in the market sector 

for vehicle service and repair. 

Snap-on also markets its products to a wide variety of industrial 

customers including industrial maintenance and repair operations, 

manufacturing and assembly facilities, government facilities, schools, 

and original equipment manufacturers that require instrumentation or 

service tools and equipment for their products. Major challenges in the 

industrial sector include a highly competitive, cost-conscious environ-

ment, and a trend toward customers making all of their tools purchases 

through one integrated supplier. Snap-on believes that it is a meaningful 

participant in the market sector for industrial tools and equipment. 

Snap-on’s products are known for their quality workmanship and 

superior product performance, and customers readily recognize the 

Snap-on family of brand names. Innovation, marketplace knowledge and 

customer relationships are Snap-on competencies that support its posi-

tion as a leading provider of professional tool and equipment solutions. 

Snap-on’s mission is to delight its customers — professional tool and 

equipment users worldwide — by providing innovative, productivity-

enhancing products, services and solutions. 

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

Net sales in 2004 increased $95.9 million over 2003 levels, including 

$86.6 million from currency translation. This positive currency transla-

tion effect at the sales level was largely offset by corresponding unfavor-

able translation on cost of goods sold and operating expenses, and 

together with unfavorable net foreign currency transaction losses, 

resulted in a minimal impact to full-year 2004 operating earnings. 

In 2004, we experienced higher sales of diagnostics tools, including 

sales from new product introductions, higher sales of equipment in 

North America and higher sales of tools in both Europe and Asia, as well 

as increased sales in the international dealer businesses. These 

increases were largely offset by lower sales in the North American dealer 

businesses and by lower sales of industrial tools in North America. 

Additionally, the 2004 fiscal year included one less week than 2003. 

Given the current and expected global economic climate affecting our 

major businesses and markets, sales growth in 2005 is expected to be 

in the low to mid-single-digit percentage range, including the impact of 

planned pricing actions.

Gross profit (defined as net sales less cost of goods sold) margin in 

2004 improved slightly over 2003 levels, reflecting gains from currency 

translation and savings from productivity and other cost reduction 

measures, including benefits from prior-year consolidation and realign-

ment activities, particularly in our Diagnostics and Information busi-

nesses. Over the last several years, significant actions have been taken 

to reduce costs companywide and improve manufacturing processes 

and operational performance through the application of Lean business 

tools. The benefits from these improvements, however, were largely 

offset by the impact of higher worldwide steel prices and production 

inefficiencies at certain facilities. We incurred steel price increases of 

$11.3 million in 2004, particularly in the second half; and we believe 

that steel prices will continue to remain high for most of 2005. While 

Snap-on realized cost savings as a result of the March 2004 closure of 

two of our U.S. hand-tool plants, we also experienced $10.2 million in 

higher costs associated with production inefficiencies and other manu-

facturing variances in the integration of production from these plants 

into other existing Snap-on facilities. In 2004, we invested in new 

equipment and processes, with dedicated teams to address manufac-

turing inefficiencies.

Operating expenses increased $86.7 million in 2004, largely due to the 

inclusion of $44.0 million from the consolidation of Snap-on Credit LLC 

(“SOC”), our 50%-owned joint venture with The CIT Group, Inc. (“CIT”), 

previously accounted for under the equity method, and Snap-on’s wholly 

owned financial services subsidiaries. Currency translation contributed 

$25.9 million. Other operating expense increases included $3.6 million 

in costs associated with the settlement of two government contract 

audits, $3.5 million in higher year-over-year start-up costs related to 

the expansion of our distribution system and operating presence in 

emerging markets, and $3.3 million of costs related to the resignation 

of our former chief executive officer in November 2004.

A significant portion of our operating expenses relate to people —  

salaries, wages, pension, medical and other associated costs. In 2004, 

we offset the upward pressure on these costs with productivity improve-

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

ments and savings from our previous cost reduction initiatives. Sales per 

employee improved 11% year over year on an approximate 6% decline 

in workforce. We expect to experience additional productivity improve-

ments in 2005. 

In the Snap-on Dealer Group, sales in the U.S. dealer business were 

down year over year, primarily reflecting a lower average number of 

dealer vans in operation in 2004. In 2004, Snap-on tightened both the 

eligibility requirements for franchise dealer expansion and the recruit-

ment standards for new prospective dealers, in an effort to improve its 

franchised dealer network. This resulted in a slower rate of new dealer 

additions than experienced in prior years. Nonetheless, we believe end-

market demand for Snap-on’s tools and tool storage products has 

increased in the U.S. dealer market at a low-single-digit percentage rate 

year over year. In Snap-on’s international dealer businesses, sales were 

up year over year, with strong increases shown in the Japanese and 

U.K. markets.

In the Commercial and Industrial Group, we experienced improving 

sales of commercial and industrial tools in Europe and Asia, particularly 

with our Bahco® brand, as well as increased sales of equipment in 

North America following the 2003 mid-year launch of the Technical 

Automotive Group (“TAG”) distribution channel. In our North American 

industrial business, we experienced a year-over-year decline in indus-

trial hand and power tool sales, due in part to order-fill issues, and in 

Europe, sales of vehicle service equipment were also down. In 2004,  

we continued to expand our distribution and operating presence in 

emerging markets. While still early, we believe these markets have  

significant long-term potential for sales of tools and vehicle repair diag-

nostics and equipment.

In our Diagnostics and Information Group segment, revenue increased 

11.2% year over year, largely attributable to the growth in handheld 

diagnostics tools sold through the U.S. dealer businesses. The growth 

primarily reflects the success of the new Snap-on® SOLUS™ Scanner™ 

diagnostic tool, launched mid-year 2004, as well as the success of the 

programmable cartridges that support the large installed base of exist-

ing Scanner products.

Financial Services operating earnings were $34.1 million in 2004, 

compared to net finance income of $43.8 million in 2003, reflecting lower 

originations and higher market interest rates. The decline in loan origina-

tions is believed to have resulted from a change in the Snap-on Dealer 

Group’s sales mix combined with a reduced level of dealer borrowings 

and the introduction of the extended trial franchise program in 2004.

The new product introductions in the Diagnostics and Information 

Group discussed above represent only a few of the successful new  

products launched throughout our businesses during the year. New 

product sales, defined as sales from products introduced during the last 

three years, across all segments contributed approximately 30% of 2004 

total net sales. We filed 100 new patent applications in connection with 

our product development activities in 2004, resulting in more than 

2,600 active or pending patents at year end. In 2004, we spent  

$60.8 million in research and engineering activities to maintain our 

In 2004, we continued our emphasis on improving cash flow. Cash 

on hand at the end of 2004 was $150.0 million, as compared to $96.1 

million at year-end 2003. In 2004, we used our cash flow to, in part, 

pay dividends totaling $57.7 million and to repurchase 1.2 million 

shares of Snap-on common stock for $38.2 million. We also made a 

$63.6 million voluntary pension contribution to our major domestic 

pension plans, bringing them into a fully funded status on both an 

accumulated and projected benefit obligation basis.

Over the last several years, we have been focused on improving asset 

utilization by making more effective use of our investment in certain 

working capital items. We use the “working investment” measure to 

assess management’s operating performance and effectiveness relative 

to those components of working capital that are more directly impacted 

by operational decisions. At January 1, 2005, working investment 

(defined as accounts receivable — net of allowances plus inventories less 

accounts payable) of $689.0 million was down from $708.2 million at 

year-end 2003 and $755.2 million at year-end 2002. In 2004, we also 

made considerable progress in our efforts to reduce days sales outstand-

ing and to improve inventory turnover. At the end of 2004, our days sales 

outstanding improved to 81 days from 88 days at year-end 2003, and 

our inventory turns (defined as cost of goods sold divided by inventories) 

improved to 3.9 turns, as compared to 3.6 turns at year-end 2003.

On November 13, 2004, Mr. Jack D. Michaels was appointed 

Snap-on’s chairman, president and chief executive officer. Mr. Michaels, 

who has been a member of Snap-on’s Board of Directors since 1998, 

brings a proven track record of improving operating efficiencies and 

driving growth. As we look to 2005, our near-term priorities are to 

improve operating efficiencies, respond to customer needs and market 

changes more quickly, address performance issues in our commercial 

and industrial businesses, and generally accelerate the pace of change 

towards improving long-term profitable growth. Information developed 

in this process may result in the company reevaluating the long-term 

performance and strategic importance of selected operations.
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focus on new product innovation and market leadership. This compares 

with research and engineering expenditures of $59.8 million in 2003 

and $57.1 million in 2002. Research and engineering costs for the 

development of new and improved products and process improvements 

are included in operating expenses and do not include certain software 

development costs that qualify for capitalization.  
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considerable excess cost throughout the company. We are committed to 

taking out such costs while maintaining our dedication to product qual-

ity, performance and value — our heritage and brand promise will not 

be compromised. We expect that we will incur costs of approximately 

$20 million to $25 million throughout 2005, including approximately 

$10 million to $12 million in the first quarter of 2005, for a number of 

anticipated actions, primarily for staffing and other cost reduction 

actions. By reducing complexity and costs, and driving increased 

accountability and initiative throughout the organization, we believe we 

will improve operating effectiveness and contribute toward long-term 

shareholder value. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal 2004 vs. Fiscal 2003

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued interpreta-

tion (“FIN”) No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (an 

interpretation of ARB No. 51)” in December 2003, which became effec-

tive for Snap-on at the beginning of its 2004 fiscal year. FIN No. 46R 

provides consolidation guidance regarding the identification of variable 

interest entities for which control is achieved through means other than 

through voting rights. 

Based on the company’s analysis of FIN No. 46R, the company con-

cluded that Snap-on would consolidate SOC as of January 4, 2004, the 

beginning of Snap-on’s 2004 fiscal year. Snap-on previously accounted 

for SOC, a 50%-owned joint venture, using the equity method. Snap-on 

has consolidated SOC on a prospective basis and, as such, has not 

restated previously issued financial statements. The impact of the con-

solidation of SOC on Snap-on’s consolidated balance sheet was not 

significant. As a result of the consolidation of SOC in fiscal 2004, 

Snap-on is reporting the results of its finance operations as a new busi-

ness segment, “Financial Services.” Refer to Notes 9 and 18 of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of SOC and 

Snap-on’s business segments.

For 2005, Snap-on has two priorities that are expected to lead to 

higher levels of operating income and improved shareholder value. 

The first priority is to improve customer service and responsiveness. 

By providing better levels of customer service and driving customer 

responsiveness to new levels, we believe we will achieve higher sales 

and improve our market position. By placing renewed emphasis  

on customer responsiveness, while maintaining our strong heritage of 

product performance, quality and innovation, we will also further 

strengthen our brands’ global appeal. We believe that Snap-on has a 

strong global customer base and a dedicated dealer organization. In the 

growing service economies of the world that place a premium on pro-

ductivity solutions, we believe there is a robust demand for the product 

performance, productivity and value for which our many global brands 

are known. 

Near term, our emphasis is focused on improving our operating effec-

tiveness, in particular, at our U.S. hand-tool plants. Significant actions 

are directed at improving manufacturing efficiencies, product line 

changeover capabilities and customer service. We will continue our 

emphasis on the use of Lean tools as a methodology for improving 

processes from a customer value-added point of view. The use of Lean 

tools will help identify and eliminate waste and improve productivity to 

enhance responsiveness to the customer and further strengthen market-

place competitiveness. We expect these actions will lead to new, higher 

levels of order-fill rates and complete and on-time deliveries for our 

dealers and customers. We will also focus on strengthening and growing 

our U.S. dealer van franchise system. The franchised dealer organization 

is a powerful direct distribution network that provides dealers with an 

opportunity for weekly contact with their customers — vehicle service 

technicians and vehicle service shop owners — at the customer’s place 

of business. 

The second priority is to take complexity out of our organization struc-

ture and aggressively remove unnecessary costs. Despite the progress 

to date with our Lean manufacturing initiatives, we believe there is still 

Highlights of Snap-on’s results of operations for the fiscal years ended January 1, 2005 (fiscal 2004), and January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003), are  

as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 Increase/(Decrease)

Net sales $2,329.1 96.8% $2,233.2 100.0% $ 95.9 4.3%

Financial services revenue  78.1 3.2% — — 78.1

Total revenue 2,407.2 100.0% 2,233.2 100.0% 174.0 7.8%

Cost of goods sold 1,319.8 54.8% 1,268.5 56.8% 51.3 4.0%

Operating expenses 945.1 39.3% 858.4 38.4% 86.7 10.1%

Net finance income — — 43.8 1.9% (43.8)

Operating earnings 142.3 5.9% 150.1 6.7% (7.8) (5.2)%

Interest expense 23.0 1.0% 24.4 1.1% (1.4) (5.7)%

Other (income) expense — net (1.1) (0.1)% 9.0 0.4% (10.1)

Earnings before income taxes 120.4 5.0% 116.7 5.2% 3.7 3.2%

Income tax expense 38.7 1.6% 38.0 1.7% 0.7 1.8%

Net earnings $   81.7 3.4% $   78.7 3.5% $  3.0 3.8%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Snap-on’s 2004 fiscal year contained 52 weeks of operating results. 

Snap-on’s 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks of operating results, 

with the additional week occurring in the fourth quarter. The impact of 

the additional week of operations on full-year 2003 operating earnings 

was not material.

Total revenue in 2004 increased $174.0 million, or 7.8%, over  

prior-year levels. Of the year-over-year increase, $86.6 million was 

attributable to currency translation, and $78.1 million resulted from the 

consolidation of SOC, previously accounted for under the equity method, 

and Snap-on’s wholly owned financial services subsidiaries. The year-

over-year revenue increase also includes higher sales of handheld diag-

nostics tools, increased sales in the international dealer businesses, 

higher sales of equipment in North America, and higher sales of  

commercial and industrial tools in both Europe and Asia. These rev-

enue increases were partially offset by lower sales in the U.S. dealer  

businesses and by lower sales of industrial tools in North America. 

Gross profit in 2004 increased $44.6 million, or 10 basis points (100 

basis points equals 1.0 percent) to 43.3% of net sales. The year-over-

year improvement in gross profit reflects the impact of the higher sales, 

$31.1 million of currency translation, $9.6 million of net savings from 

Lean and other cost reduction initiatives and $8.9 million in lower  

year-over-year restructuring costs. These improvements in gross profit 

were partially offset by $11.3 million in increased year-over-year steel 

costs, $10.2 million of higher expenses from production inefficiencies 

and other manufacturing variances associated with the relocation of 

production from the closure of two U.S. hand-tool plants in March  

2004, and lower LIFO benefits (LIFO inventory liquidations of $1.9 mil-

lion and $15.1 million during 2004 and 2003) and other inventory costs 

totaling $7.6 million.

Operating expenses in 2004 increased $86.7 million, or 90 basis 

points as a percentage of total revenue, from prior-year levels, including 

$44.0 million from the consolidation of SOC, previously accounted for 

under the equity method, and Snap-on’s wholly owned financial  

services subsidiaries. Foreign currency translation contributed $25.9 mil-

lion to the year-over-year operating expense increase. Operating 

expenses in 2004 were also impacted by the higher sales, $3.6 million 

in costs associated with the settlement of two U.S. General Services 

Administration (“GSA”) contract audits and $3.5 million of higher freight 

costs, reflecting increased freight rates and smaller, but more frequent, 

shipments to dealers. In addition, operating expenses in 2004 included 

$3.5 million of higher start-up costs associated with the company’s 

expansion of its distribution system and operating presence in emerging 

markets and $3.3 million for severance costs related to the November 

2004 resignation of the company’s former chairman, president and 

chief executive officer.

Interest expense was $23.0 million in 2004, down $1.4 million from 

$24.4 million in 2003. The year-over-year decline primarily reflects 

lower interest paid on dealer deposits.

Other income (expense) — net was income of $1.1 million in 2004, 

as compared to an expense of $9.0 million in 2003. This line item 

includes the impact of all non-operating items such as interest income, 

minority interest, hedging and currency exchange rate transaction gains 

and losses, and other miscellaneous non-operating items. The year-

over-year change in other income (expense) includes $6.0 million of 

lower foreign exchange losses and $1.1 million of lower minority inter-

ests, along with higher interest and other income. Minority interests for 

2004 and 2003 were $2.0 million and $3.1 million. 

Snap-on’s effective tax rates of 32.1% in 2004 and 32.6% in 2003 

benefited from the conclusion of prior-year tax matters in both years.

Exit or Disposal Activities: For a discussion of Snap-on’s exit and disposal 

activities, refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Results: Snap-on’s business segments are based on the  

organization structure used by management for making operating and 

investment decisions and for assessing performance. Snap-on’s report-

able business segments include: (i) the Snap-on Dealer Group; (ii) the 

Commercial and Industrial Group; (iii) the Diagnostics and Information 

Group; and (iv) Financial Services. The Snap-on Dealer Group consists 

of Snap-on’s business operations serving the worldwide franchised 

dealer van channel. The Commercial and Industrial Group consists of 

the business operations providing tools and equipment products and 

equipment repair services to a broad range of industrial and commercial 

customers worldwide through direct, distributor and other non-fran-

chised distribution channels. The Diagnostics and Information Group 

consists of the business operations providing diagnostics equipment, 

vehicle service information, business management systems and other 

solutions for vehicle service to customers in the worldwide vehicle ser-

vice and repair marketplace. Financial Services is a new business seg-

ment, beginning in fiscal 2004, consisting of the business operations of 

SOC and Snap-on’s wholly owned finance subsidiaries in those interna-

tional markets where Snap-on has dealer operations. Prior-year segment 

disclosures have not been restated to include the Financial Services 

segment due to the prospective adoption of FIN No. 46R. See Notes 2 

and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of 

SOC and the company’s adoption of FIN No. 46R.

During the third quarter of 2004, Snap-on realigned certain of its 

business units within its reportable business segments. The primary 

realignments included Snap-on’s Equipment Solutions (facilitation) 

business moving from the Commercial and Industrial Group to the 

Diagnostics and Information Group, and Snap-on’s EquiServ (equip-

ment services) business moving from the Diagnostics and Information 

Group to the Commercial and Industrial Group. Prior-year financial  

data by segment has been restated to reflect these reportable business 

segment realignments.
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Snap-on evaluates the performance of its operating segments based 

on segment revenues and operating earnings. Segment revenues are 

defined as total revenues, including both external customer revenue and 

intersegment revenue. Segment operating earnings are defined as seg-

ment revenues less cost of goods sold and operating expenses. Snap-on 

accounts for intersegment sales and transfers based primarily on stan-

dard costs with reasonable mark-ups established between the seg-

ments. Snap-on allocates shared services expenses to those segments 

that utilize the services based on a percentage of either cost of goods 

sold or segment revenues, as appropriate.

Snap-on Dealer Group

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 Increase/(Decrease)

External revenue $1,052.9 97.5% $1,044.1 97.7% $  8.8 0.8%

Intersegment revenue 26.7 2.5% 24.6 2.3% 2.1 8.5%

Total segment revenue 1,079.6 100.0% 1,068.7 100.0% 10.9 1.0%

Cost of goods sold 605.9 56.1% 584.5 54.7% 21.4 3.7%

Gross profit 473.7 43.9% 484.2 45.3% (10.5) (2.2)%

Operating expenses 410.5 38.0% 412.8 38.6% (2.3) (0.6)%

Segment operating earnings $   63.2 5.9% $   71.4 6.7% $ (8.2) (11.5)%

 

Total segment revenue in 2004 increased $10.9 million, or 1.0%, over 

prior-year levels due to $22.7 million of currency translation partially 

offset by a sales decrease of $11.8 million. In the United States, sales 

were 3.3% lower year over year. The average number of U.S. dealer vans 

in operation during 2004 was down 4% from year-end 2003, primarily 

due to a lower level of new dealer additions in 2004. During the first 

quarter of 2004, Snap-on tightened eligibility requirements for its  

franchise dealer expansion and enhancement initiative and the recruit-

ment standards for prospective dealers, aimed at improving the strength 

of its franchised dealer network. In the company’s non-North American 

dealer businesses, segment revenue increased $36.7 million year 

over year, including $22.7 million from currency translation.

Segment gross profit in 2004 decreased $10.5 million, or 140 basis 

points as a percentage of total segment revenue, from last year, reflect-

ing the impact of lower sales and $8.6 million of higher costs associated 

with production inefficiencies and other manufacturing variances related 

to the relocation of production from the two U.S. hand-tool plants. 

Segment gross profit in 2004 was also impacted by $3.2 million of 

lower year-over-year LIFO benefits and other inventory costs and by 

$7.7 million from increased steel costs. These higher costs were par-

tially offset by $8.4 million of currency translation, $10.4 million in 

lower year-over-year restructuring costs and $1.3 million of lower pen-

sion, postretirement and other insurance costs. Operating expenses for 

the Snap-on Dealer Group decreased $2.3 million year over year, down 

60 basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The $2.3 

million decrease includes the operating expense impact from lower 

sales, as well as $8.0 million of lower bad debt expense and $2.0 mil-

lion in lower year-over-year restructuring costs. These decreases in 

operating expenses were partially offset by $6.8 million of currency 

translation and $3.4 million of higher freight expense, reflecting 

increased freight rates and smaller, but more frequent, shipments to 

dealers. As a result of these factors, segment operating earnings in 2004 

decreased $8.2 million, or 80 basis points as a percentage of total seg-

ment revenue, as compared to the prior year.

Commercial and Industrial Group

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 Increase/(Decrease)

External revenue $  987.2 88.4% $  916.5 88.0% $ 70.7 7.7%

Intersegment revenue 129.7 11.6% 124.9 12.0% 4.8 3.8%

Total segment revenue 1,116.9 100.0% 1,041.4 100.0% 75.5 7.2%

Cost of goods sold 743.0 66.5% 689.6 66.2% 53.4 7.7%

Gross profit 373.9 33.5% 351.8 33.8% 22.1 6.3%

Operating expenses 373.1 33.4% 336.5 32.3% 36.6 10.9%

Segment operating earnings $    0.8 0.1% $   15.3 1.5% $(14.5) (94.8)%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Total segment revenue in 2004 increased $75.5 million, or 7.2%, over 

prior-year levels due to $56.3 million of currency translation and  

$19.2 million in higher sales. Demand for tools improved in both North 

America and Europe in 2004, despite lower sales of industrial tools in 

North America. In addition, higher sales of vehicle service equipment 

were achieved in North America through the company’s TAG distribution 

channel, which was launched mid-year 2003. 

Segment gross profit in 2004 increased $22.1 million, but decreased 

30 basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. Benefits real-

ized from higher sales, $19.5 million of currency translation and  

$2.7 million from Lean and other cost reduction initiatives were partially 

offset by $5.1 million of lower LIFO benefits and other inventory costs, 

$4.4 million of higher year-over-year restructuring costs, $3.1 million of 

increased steel costs, $2.3 million of increased freight costs, and  

$1.6 million in higher expenses from production inefficiencies and other 

manufacturing variances associated with the relocation of production 

from the two U.S. hand-tool plants. Operating expenses for the 

Commercial and Industrial Group increased $36.6 million, or 110 basis 

points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The increase in operat-

ing expenses reflects the impact of higher sales, $16.2 million of  

currency translation, $6.3 million in higher bad debt expense, $3.6 mil-

lion of costs associated with the GSA contract audits settlement and a 

$3.4 million year-over-year increase in restructuring costs, partially  

offset by $2.9 million of benefits from Lean and other cost reduction 

initiatives and a $2.9 million year-over-year increase in gains on the 

sales of facilities. Operating expenses were also impacted by $3.5 mil-

lion of start-up costs associated with the company’s investment to 

expand its distribution and operating presence in emerging markets. As 

a result, segment operating earnings in 2004 decreased $14.5 million 

as compared to 2003.

Diagnostics and Information Group

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue $289.0 65.6% $272.6  68.8% $16.4  6.0%

Intersegment revenue  151.6  34.4% 123.8  31.2% 27.8  22.5%

Total segment revenue  440.6  100.0% 396.4  100.0% 44.2  11.2%

Cost of goods sold  278.9  63.3% 267.7  67.5% 11.2  4.2%

Gross profit  161.7  36.7% 128.7  32.5% 33.0  25.6%

Operating expenses  117.5  26.7% 109.1  27.6% 8.4  7.7%

Segment operating earnings  $ 44.2  10.0% $ 19.6  4.9% $24.6  125.5%

 

Total segment revenue in 2004 increased $44.2 million, or 11.2%, 

over prior-year levels primarily due to $34.2 million in higher sales, 

principally of handheld diagnostics, as well as $10.0 million of currency 

translation.

Segment gross profit in 2004 increased $33.0 million, or 420 basis 

points as a percentage of total segment revenue, from prior year, largely 

reflecting the growth in sales of handheld diagnostics and information 

products, $8.1 million of benefits from Lean initiatives and $3.2 million 

of currency translation. Segment gross profit also benefited from $2.9 

million in lower year-over-year costs for restructuring, primarily reflect-

ing the absence of costs incurred in 2003 for the closure of the seg-

ment’s large-platform diagnostics facility. Operating expenses for the 

Diagnostics and Information Group increased $8.4 million, but 

decreased 90 basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue, 

reflecting $2.8 million of currency translation, $2.5 million from the 

absence of gains realized from the sale of facilities in 2003 and $2.1 

million of higher bad debt expense. As a result, segment operating earn-

ings in 2004 increased $24.6 million, or 510 basis points as a percent-

age of total segment revenue, as compared to the prior year.

Financial Services

(Dollars in millions)  2004

External revenue  $78.1  100.0%

Intersegment revenue  —  — 

Total segment revenue  78.1  100.0%

Operating expenses  44.0  56.3%

Segment operating earnings  $34.1  43.7%

Segment operating earnings in 2004 were $34.1 million. Net finance 

income was $43.8 million in 2003. Operating earnings for 2004 

decreased year over year primarily due to lower loan originations and 

higher market interest rates. Snap-on believes that the decline in loan 

originations is primarily due to sales mix in the Snap-on Dealer Group and 

a reduced level of dealer borrowings as a result of the strengthening fiscal 

health of dealers, combined with the tightening of both the eligibility 

requirements for franchise dealer expansion and the recruitment stan-

dards for new prospective dealers. See Note 9 of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements for SOC’s 2003 summarized financial information.
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Fourth Quarter: Highlights of Snap-on’s results of operations for the quarters ended January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, are as follows:

    Three Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)  January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 Increase/(Decrease) 

Net sales  $591.8  97.0% $599.3  100.0% $ (7.5) (1.3)%

Financial services revenue  18.2  3.0% —  — 18.2 

Total revenue  610.0  100.0% 599.3  100.0% 10.7  1.8%

Cost of goods sold  327.1  53.7% 347.9  58.0% (20.8) (6.0)%

Operating expenses  244.9  40.1% 228.2  38.1% 16.7  7.3%

Net finance income  —  — 12.1  2.0% (12.1)

Operating earnings  38.0  6.2% 35.3  5.9% 2.7  7.6%

Interest expense  5.6  0.9% 6.2  1.1% (0.6) (9.7)%

Other (income) expense — net  (4.7) (0.8)% 2.5  0.4% (7.2)

Earnings before income taxes  37.1  6.1% 26.6  4.4% 10.5  39.5%

Income tax expense 13.1  2.2% 9.3  1.5% 3.8  40.9%

Net earnings  $ 24.0  3.9% $ 17.3  2.9% $  6.7  38.7%

 

Total revenue in the fourth quarter of 2004 increased $10.7 million, 

or 1.8%, over prior-year levels. Lower sales of $28.8 million were offset 

by $21.3 million of currency translation and $18.2 million from the 

consolidation of SOC, previously accounted for under the equity method, 

and Snap-on’s wholly owned financial services subsidiaries. The decline 

in sales primarily reflects fewer selling days in the fourth quarter of 

2004. The 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks, with the extra week 

occurring in the fourth quarter.

Gross profit increased $13.3 million, or 280 basis points to 44.7% of 

net sales. The impact of $8.6 million in lower year-over-year restructur-

ing costs, $8.1 million of benefits from Lean initiatives, $6.9 million of 

currency translation and $4.8 million from lower net inventory costs 

was partially offset by the impact of lower sales, increased steel costs 

of $7.2 million, and $3.3 million of costs associated with production 

inefficiencies and other manufacturing variances associated with the 

relocation of production from the two U.S. hand-tool plants.

Operating expenses in the fourth quarter of 2004 increased  

$16.7 million, or 200 basis points as a percentage of total revenue, from 

the fourth quarter of 2003, including $12.0 million from the consolida-

tion of SOC, previously accounted for under the equity method, and 

Snap-on’s wholly owned financial services subsidiaries. Foreign cur-

rency translation contributed $6.1 million to the year-over-year  

operating expense increase. Operating expenses during the fourth  

quarter of 2004 were impacted by $3.3 million for severance costs 

related to the November 2004 resignation of the company’s former  

chief executive officer, $3.1 million in higher bad debt expense, $1.5 mil-

lion of lower year-over-year gains on the sales of facilities and 

$1.0 million in higher restructuring costs. These increases in operating 

expenses were partially offset by the impact of lower sales, $2.8 million 

of benefits from Lean and other cost reduction initiatives and $2.0 mil-

lion in lower pension, postretirement and other insurance costs.

Interest expense was $5.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, down 

$0.6 million from $6.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. The year-

over-year decrease primarily reflects the impact of an additional week 

of business in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Other income (expense) — net was income of $4.7 million for the 

fourth quarter of 2004, as compared to an expense of $2.5 million in 

the comparable prior-year period. This line item includes the impact of 

all non-operating items such as interest income, minority interest,  

hedging and currency exchange rate transaction gains and losses, and 

other miscellaneous non-operating items. Other expense decreased 

$7.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 over the prior year largely  

due to the effects of minority interest and lower foreign exchange  

transaction losses.

Snap-on’s effective tax rate was 35.3% and 35.0% for the fourth 

quarter of 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Snap-on Dealer Group

    Three Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)  January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $256.2  96.6% $268.0  97.5% $(11.8) (4.4)%

Intersegment revenue  9.0  3.4% 6.8  2.5% 2.2  32.4%

Total segment revenue  265.2  100.0% 274.8  100.0% (9.6) (3.5)%

Cost of goods sold  148.1  55.8% 150.7  54.8% (2.6) (1.7)%

Gross profit  117.1  44.2% 124.1  45.2% (7.0) (5.6)%

Operating expenses  102.5  38.7% 108.8  39.6% (6.3) (5.8)%

Segment operating earnings  $ 14.6  5.5% $ 15.3  5.6% $ (0.7) (4.6)%

 

Total segment revenue in the fourth quarter of 2004 decreased  

$9.6 million, or 3.5%, from prior-year levels due to a $14.4 million 

decrease in worldwide sales, partially offset by $4.8 million of currency 

translation. In the United States, sales were 12.0% lower year over year 

partially reflecting the fewer selling days in the current-year period. The 

average number of U.S. dealer vans in operation during the fourth quar-

ter of 2004 was down year over year primarily due to a lower level of 

new dealer additions in 2004. Lower U.S. sales were partially offset by 

sales gains in Japan and the United Kingdom.

Segment gross profit for the fourth quarter of 2004 decreased  

$7.0 million, or 100 basis points as a percentage of total segment  

revenue, from the same period last year primarily due to lower sales, 

$4.2 million of higher steel costs and $2.8 million of higher expenses 

from production inefficiencies and other manufacturing variances  

associated with the relocation of production from the two U.S. hand-tool 

plants, partially offset by $5.4 million in lower year-over-year restructur-

ing costs and $1.6 million of currency translation. Operating expenses for 

the Snap-on Dealer Group decreased $6.3 million, or 90 basis points as 

a percentage of total segment revenue. The $6.3 million decrease in oper-

ating expenses primarily reflects the impact of lower sales, a $2.5 million 

reduction in bad debt expense, $1.9 million in lower pension, postretire-

ment and other insurance costs, and $0.9 million in lower freight costs, 

partially offset by $1.4 million of currency translation. As a result of 

these factors, segment operating earnings in the fourth quarter of 2004 

decreased $0.7 million, or 10 basis points as a percentage of total seg-

ment revenue, as compared to the fourth quarter of 2003.

Commercial and Industrial Group

    Three Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)  January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $258.5  88.8% $256.6  88.7% $ 1.9  0.7%

Intersegment revenue  32.5  11.2% 32.8  11.3% (0.3) (0.9)%

Total segment revenue  291.0  100.0% 289.4  100.0% 1.6  0.6%

Cost of goods sold  188.0  64.6% 193.3  66.8% (5.3) (2.7)%

Gross profit  103.0  35.4% 96.1  33.2% 6.9  7.2%

Operating expenses  96.3  33.1% 93.4  32.3% 2.9  3.1%

Segment operating earnings  $  6.7  2.3% $  2.7  0.9% $ 4.0  148.1%

 

Total segment revenue in the fourth quarter of 2004 increased  

$1.6 million, or 0.6%, over prior-year levels due to $14.5 million of cur-

rency translation partially offset by a $12.9 million decrease in sales, 

due principally to one less week in the current fiscal year. During the 

fourth quarter of 2004, improving sales of commercial and industrial 

tools in Europe and Asia, particularly with the BAHCO brand, as well as 

increased North American sales of equipment were more than offset by 

a decline in industrial tools sales in North America and lower sales of 

vehicle service equipment in Europe.

Segment gross profit for the fourth quarter of 2004 increased  

$6.9 million, or 220 basis points as a percentage of total segment  

revenue, from the same period last year primarily due to $5.5 million in 

benefits from Lean initiatives, $4.6 million of currency translation and 

$3.4 million of lower net inventory costs, partially offset by lower sales 

and $3.1 million in higher steel costs. Operating expenses for the 

Commercial and Industrial Group increased $2.9 million, or 80 basis 

points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The increase in operat-

ing expenses reflects $4.1 million of currency translation, $2.3 million 
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in higher bad debt expense and $1.5 million in higher year-over-year 

restructuring costs, partially offset by the impact of lower sales,  

$2.9 million of benefits from Lean initiatives, $1.2 million in higher 

year-over-year gains from the sales of facilities and $1.0 million in lower 

pension, postretirement and other insurance costs. As a result, segment 

operating earnings in the fourth quarter of 2004 increased $4.0 million 

as compared to the fourth quarter of 2003.

Diagnostics and Information Group

    Three Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)  January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $ 77.1  68.5% $ 74.7  74.0% $ 2.4  3.2%

Intersegment revenue  35.4  31.5% 26.3  26.0% 9.1  34.6%

Total segment revenue  112.5  100.0% 101.0  100.0% 11.5  11.4%

Cost of goods sold  68.0  60.4% 69.7  69.0% (1.7) (2.4)%

Gross profit  44.5  39.6% 31.3  31.0% 13.2  42.2%

Operating expenses  34.0  30.3% 26.1  25.9% 7.9  30.3%

Segment operating earnings  $ 10.5  9.3% $  5.2  5.1% $ 5.3  101.9%

 
 

Total segment revenue in the fourth quarter of 2004 increased  

$11.5 million, or 11.4%, over prior-year levels primarily due to $8.5 

million in higher sales, primarily attributable to growth in Snap-on 

handheld diagnostics tools through the U.S. dealer businesses. Currency 

translation of $3.0 million also contributed to the year-over-year 

increase in segment revenue.

Segment gross profit for the fourth quarter of 2004 increased  

$13.2 million, or 860 basis points as a percentage of total segment 

revenue, from the same period last year, largely reflecting increased 

sales, $3.8 million of benefits from Lean and other cost reduction initia-

tives, $3.5 million in lower restructuring costs and $2.2 million of lower 

net inventory costs. Operating expenses for the Diagnostics and 

Information Group increased $7.9 million, or 440 basis points as a 

percentage of total segment revenue, primarily due to $3.2 million of 

higher bad debt expense and a $2.5 million year-over-year decrease in 

gains on sales of facilities. As a result, segment operating earnings in 

the fourth quarter of 2004 increased $5.3 million, or 420 basis points 

as a percentage of total segment revenue, as compared to the fourth 

quarter of 2003.

Financial Services

    Three Months Ended 

(Dollars in millions)  January 1, 2005

External revenue  $18.2  100.0%

Intersegment revenue  —  —

Total segment revenue  18.2  100.0%

Operating expenses  12.0  65.9%

Segment operating earnings  $ 6.2  34.1%

 

Segment operating earnings for the fourth quarter were $6.2 million. 

Net finance income was $12.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. 

Operating earnings for the fourth quarter of 2004 decreased year over 

year primarily due to lower loan originations and higher market interest 

rates. The decline in loan originations is primarily due to reduced levels 

of dealer borrowings resulting from the strengthening fiscal health of 

dealers and the introduction of the extended trial franchise program.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Fiscal 2003 vs. Fiscal 2002

Highlights of Snap-on’s results of operations for 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Dollars in millions)  2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease) 

Net sales  $2,233.2  100.0% $2,109.1  100.0% $124.1  5.9%

Financial services revenue  —  — — — — 

Total revenue  2,233.2  100.0% 2,109.1  100.0% 124.1  5.9%

Cost of goods sold  1,268.5  56.8% 1,144.2  54.3% 124.3  10.9%

Operating expenses  858.4  38.4% 804.3  38.1% 54.1  6.7%

Net finance income  43.8  1.9% 37.7  1.8% 6.1 

Operating earnings  150.1  6.7% 198.3  9.4% (48.2) (24.3)%

Interest expense  24.4  1.1% 28.7  1.4% (4.3) (15.0)%

Other (income) expense — net  9.0  0.4% 8.4  0.4% 0.6  7.1%

Earnings before income taxes  116.7  5.2% 161.2  7.6% (44.5) (27.6)%

Income tax expense 38.0  1.7% 58.0  2.7% (20.0) (34.5)%

Earnings before cumulative  

 effect of a change in  

 accounting principle  78.7  3.5% 103.2  4.9% (24.5) (23.7)%

Cumulative effect of a  

 change in accounting  

 principle, net of tax  —  — 2.8  0.1% (2.8)

Net earnings  $   78.7  3.5% $  106.0  5.0% $ (27.3) (25.8)%

 

Net sales in 2003 were $2.233 billion, up 5.9% from the $2.109 bil-

lion reported in 2002. The $124.1 million increase in year-over- 

year net sales was primarily driven by $111.8 million, or 5.3%, of 

currency translation and a 0.6% increase in sales, including 0.5%  

from acquisitions. 

Snap-on reported gross profit of $964.7 million in 2003, as compared 

to $964.9 million in 2002. Gross profit in 2003 benefited from net cur-

rency impacts of $33.0 million and savings from restructuring and Lean 

initiatives of $15.6 million. Gross profit in 2003 was negatively impacted 

by $25.8 million of costs for restructuring activities, including costs of 

$19.5 million related to the closure of the two U.S. hand-tool plants and 

costs of $3.5 million for the closure of the company’s U.S. facility that 

assembled large-platform diagnostics. The combination of unfavorable 

sales mix and lower sales volumes, particularly in the Commercial and 

Industrial Group, partially offset by benefits from favorable net pricing 

and sales of new products across all business segments, reduced gross 

profit by approximately $6.8 million in 2003. Unfavorable manufacturing 

cost absorption and inventory-related costs, net of LIFO benefits realized 

of $14.0 million in 2003, also lowered full-year 2003 gross profit by  

$7.9 million. Gross profit in 2003 was also adversely impacted by higher 

year-over-year pension, other retirement and insurance costs of $7.3 mil-

lion and by plant inefficiencies of $1.0 million incurred in the fourth 

quarter associated with the closure of the two hand-tool facilities.

Operating expenses were $858.4 million in 2003 compared to  

$804.3 million in 2002. The $54.1 million, or 6.7%, increase in  

year-over-year operating expenses primarily includes net currency 

impacts of $35.7 million, higher pension, other retirement and insurance 

costs of $14.9 million, $1.7 million of higher costs for the company’s 

dealer expansion and enhancement initiative, higher research and 

development spending of $2.7 million, and increased catalog and freight 

costs of $7.0 million. The year-over-year increase in freight costs largely 

reflects the impact of inflationary cost increases and a trend towards a 

higher number of smaller product shipments to improve customer 

responsiveness. Operating expenses in 2003 also included costs for 

restructuring activities of $4.3 million, inflationary health care cost 

increases of $4.3 million, $4.3 million in higher advertising and promo-

tion expenses reflecting increased catalog and racing promotion costs, 

costs of $2.4 million to terminate certain life insurance programs, and 

$2.2 million in costs related to a change in long-term incentive compen-

sation to reflect a higher percentage of restricted stock. The year-over-

year operating expense comparison was also impacted by the inclusion, 

in 2003, of $5.1 million in operating expenses for the prior-year acquisi-

tion of two business operations. These year-over-year increases were  

partially offset by savings of $16.2 million from Snap-on’s restructuring 

and Lean initiatives, gains of $2.8 million from the sales of facilities, 

and lower bad debt expense of $5.7 million, including the absence of 

$2.6 million incurred in 2002 for the write-down of a receivable related 

to the closure of auto service centers associated with a major retailer’s 

bankruptcy. In addition, the year-over-year operating expense compari-

son benefited from the absence of costs incurred in 2002 that included 

$3.0 million related to the resignation of Snap-on’s former chief finan-

cial officer. Operating expenses in 2002 included $4.0 million for 

26 SNAP-ON INCORPORATED 2004



employee and equipment relocation costs and professional fees to final-

ize the company’s fiscal 2001 restructuring actions and a net $4.6 

million benefit from the favorable resolution of a patent infringement 

matter partially offset by a provision for certain contractual matters. 

Snap-on reported net earnings in 2003 of $78.7 million, or $1.35 per 

diluted share, as compared to net earnings of $106.0 million, or  

$1.81 per diluted share, in 2002. Snap-on’s earnings in 2003 included 

$30.1 million in pretax charges for the company’s 2003 restructuring 

activities, as well as higher year-over-year pension, other retirement 

and insurance costs of $22.2 million pretax. Snap-on’s earnings in 

2003 also included pretax savings generated from its restructuring and 

Lean initiatives of $31.8 million partially offset by unfavorable manu-

facturing cost absorption and net inventory-related costs of $7.9 million 

pretax and unfavorable sales mix and lower sales volumes. Snap-on 

recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle transi-

tion adjustment that increased net earnings in 2002 by $2.8 million, or 

$0.05 per diluted share, from the recognition of negative goodwill as 

required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 

142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” For information on 

Snap-on’s adoption of SFAS No. 142, refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

Net finance income consists of royalty and management fees paid to 

Snap-on by SOC, a 50%-owned joint venture, based on the volume of 

contracts originated by SOC and 50% of any residual profit or loss of SOC 

after operating expenses, including royalty and management fees, inter-

est costs and credit loss provisions. Net finance income also consists of 

installment contract income and dealer financing income, net of admin-

istrative expenses, derived from Snap-on’s wholly owned international 

financial services subsidiaries.

Net finance income was $43.8 million in 2003, up $6.1 million from 

$37.7 million in 2002. Higher credit originations and a more favorable 

interest-rate environment contributed to the year-over-year increase. 

SOC’s credit originations in 2003 increased 3.2% from prior year.

Interest expense for 2003 was $24.4 million, compared with  

$28.7 million in 2002. The decline in interest expense reflects the 

impact of both lower average interest rates and significantly lower aver-

age debt levels due to strong cash flow from operating activities.

In 2003, other income (expense) — net was an expense of $9.0 million, 

compared to an expense of $8.4 million in 2002. This income statement 

line item includes the impact of all non-operating items such as interest 

income, minority interests, hedging and exchange rate transaction gains 

and losses, and other miscellaneous non-operating items. Minority inter-

ests for 2003 and 2002 were $3.1 million and $3.4 million.

Snap-on’s effective income tax rate was 32.6% in 2003 and 35.4%  

in 2002. Snap-on’s effective tax rate in 2003 was reduced by 2.5 per-

centage points from the conclusion of certain prior-years’ tax matters. 

For income tax information, refer to Note 12 of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

Segment Results

Snap-on Dealer Group

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $1,044.1  97.7% $1,012.9  97.2% $ 31.2  3.1%

Intersegment revenue  24.6  2.3% 29.1  2.8% (4.5) (15.5)%

Total segment revenue  1,068.7  100.0% 1,042.0  100.0% 26.7  2.6%

Cost of goods sold  584.5  54.7% 554.0  53.2% 30.5  5.5%

Gross profit  484.2  45.3% 488.0  46.8% (3.8) (0.8)%

Operating expenses  412.8  38.6% 397.6  38.1% 15.2  3.8%

Segment operating earnings  $   71.4  6.7% $   90.4  8.7% $(19.0) (21.0)%

 

Total segment revenue in 2003 increased $26.7 million, or 2.6%, over 

prior-year levels, primarily due to $26.5 million of currency translation. 

Increases from sales of new products and gains from higher pricing were 

largely offset by lower sales volumes. Higher year-over-year sales in the 

North American franchised dealer operations and in the Snap-on Dealer 

Group’s international markets, were partially offset by significantly  

lower sales of large platform-based diagnostics through the company’s 

technical representatives (“tech rep”) organization. The sales growth in 

the North American franchised dealer operations in 2003 reflects sales 

gains by dealers to their customers — automotive technicians and 

mechanics. In the Snap-on Dealer Group’s international markets, sales 

were up $17.7 million year over year, including $16.3 million from  

currency translation. 

Segment gross profit in 2003 of $484.2 million decreased $3.8 mil-

lion, or 150 basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue, from 

prior-year levels. Costs of $18.7 million for restructuring activities, 

increased costs for pension, other retirement and insurance of $4.5 mil-

lion, and higher year-over-year freight costs of $2.5 million, lowered 

segment gross profit in 2003. Production inefficiencies, as well as 

expenses incurred in the fourth quarter of 2003 associated with the 

relocation of production from the closure of two hand-tool plants, and 

inventory-related costs, adversely impacted 2003 operating earnings by 

$7.1 million. In 2003, benefits from favorable net pricing and the suc-

cess of new products, partially offset by the impact of lower sales of 

large-platform diagnostics sold through the tech rep organization and 

inflationary cost increases, contributed $10.6 million to segment gross 
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profit. Segment gross profit in 2003 also benefited from currency trans-

lation of $6.9 million, productivity and cost savings of $5.3 million and 

LIFO benefits of $6.1 million from lower inventory levels. Gross profit in 

2002 also included $0.3 million of restructuring-related costs to com-

plete 2001 restructuring initiatives. 

Segment operating expenses in 2003 increased $15.2 million, or 50 

basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The $15.2 million 

increase in operating expenses includes $8.2 million of currency transla-

tion, $6.6 million for higher pension, other retirement and insurance 

costs, and higher freight and catalog expenses of $2.5 million and  

$2.0 million, respectively. In 2003, the Snap-on Dealer Group also 

incurred costs for restructuring activities of $2.2 million and higher 

year-over-year costs of $1.7 million for continued investment in the 

company’s dealer expansion and enhancement initiative. Costs incurred 

for this initiative generally included higher dealer turnover costs to 

address low-performing dealers, as well as higher costs for new dealer 

training, recruiting and other dealer expansion costs. These increases in 

2003 operating expenses were partially offset by productivity and cost 

savings of $3.2 million and lower bad debt expense of $3.1 million. 

Operating expenses in 2002 included a net benefit of $2.5 million from 

the favorable resolution of a patent infringement matter and also 

included $1.6 million of costs to complete 2001 restructuring initiatives. 

As a result of these factors, segment operating earnings in 2003 

decreased $19.0 million, or 200 basis points as a percentage of total 

segment revenue, as compared to 2002.

Commercial and Industrial Group

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $  916.5  88.0% $857.6  88.1% $ 58.9  6.9%

Intersegment revenue  124.9  12.0% 116.2  11.9% 8.7  7.5%

Total segment revenue  1,041.4  100.0% 973.8  100.0% 67.6  6.9%

Cost of goods sold  689.6  66.2% 625.5  64.2% 64.1  10.3%

Gross profit  351.8  33.8% 348.3  35.8% 3.5  1.0%

Operating expenses  336.5  32.3% 304.4  31.3% 32.1  10.5%

Segment operating earnings  $   15.3  1.5% $ 43.9  4.5% $(28.6) (65.1)%

Total segment revenue in 2003 increased $67.6 million, or 6.9%, over 

prior-year levels, including $82.0 million of currency translation. In 

2003, higher sales of equipment for the European vehicle service mar-

ketplace, reflecting the success of new product introductions over the 

past three years, were offset by sales declines in industrial tools, prin-

cipally in such sectors as aerospace, aviation, general manufacturing 

and non-residential construction, and lower sales of power tools to the 

Snap-on Dealer Group. In addition, lower sales of equipment in North 

America, reflecting the sustained weak economic conditions in the 

manufacturing and capital goods marketplace and the disruption caused 

by the launch of the TAG direct sales organization in the second quarter 

of 2003, also impacted the year-over-year sales comparisons.

Segment gross profit in 2003 of $351.8 million was up $3.5 million 

from 2002 levels, but decreased 200 basis points as a percentage of 

total segment revenue. Benefits realized from currency translation of  

$22.3 million, primarily due to the sourcing of a significant portion of 

tool and equipment products from Sweden and Canada, and savings 

from restructuring and Lean initiatives of $8.5 million, were partially 

offset by $11.5 million from lower sales, general cost increases and 

unfavorable sales mix (primarily lower sales of high-margin industrial 

tools and equipment), including the impact related to the start-up of the 

new TAG organization. In 2003, segment gross profit was lowered by 

$9.3 million of unfavorable manufacturing absorption and inventory-

related costs, net of LIFO benefits of $6.1 million from lower inventory 

levels. Segment gross profit in 2003 was also lowered by $3.6 million of 

costs for restructuring activities, including $2.6 million related to the 

closure of the two U.S. hand-tool facilities, and by $3.0 million in higher 

year-over-year costs for pension, other retirement and insurance. 

Segment operating expenses in 2003 increased $32.1 million, or 100 

basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The increase in 

operating expenses includes $24.9 million of currency translation and 

$7.8 million in general cost increases, including costs associated with 

the TAG start-up. The increase in 2003 operating expenses also includes 

$2.0 million of costs for restructuring activities, $6.5 million in higher 

year-over-year costs for pension, other retirement and insurance, and 

$1.9 million for increased health care costs and costs to terminate 

certain life insurance programs. Savings of $8.3 million from restructur-

ing activities offset these increases in year-over-year operating expenses. 

Operating expenses in 2002 included $4.9 million of costs to complete 

restructuring actions initiated in 2001. Operating expenses in 2002 also 

included a net benefit of $2.1 million from the favorable resolution of a 

patent infringement matter partially offset by a provision for certain 

contractual matters. As a result of these factors, segment operating 

earnings in 2003 decreased $28.6 million, or 300 basis points as a 

percentage of total segment revenue, as compared to 2002.
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Diagnostics and Information Group

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease) 

External revenue  $272.6  68.8% $238.6  60.5% $ 34.0  14.2%

Intersegment revenue  123.8  31.2% 155.7  39.5% (31.9) (20.5)%

Total segment revenue  396.4  100.0% 394.3  100.0% 2.1  0.5%

Cost of goods sold  267.7  67.5% 265.7  67.4% 2.0  0.8%

Gross profit  128.7  32.5% 128.6  32.6% 0.1  0.1%

Operating expenses  109.1  27.6% 102.3  25.9% 6.8  6.6%

Segment operating earnings  $ 19.6  4.9% $ 26.3  6.7% $  (6.7) (25.5)%

Total segment revenue in 2003 increased $2.1 million over prior-year 

levels, including $9.0 million of currency translation. Incremental sales 

from the acquisition of NEXIQ Technologies, and higher year-over-year 

sales to new vehicle dealerships under facilitation agreements, in which 

Snap-on provides product procurement, distribution and administrative 

support to customers for their dealerships’ equipment programs, were 

offset by a decline in sales of equipment and large platform-based diag-

nostics in North America, primarily in products sold through the 

Snap-on Dealer Group’s tech rep organization. In addition, the 

Diagnostics and Information Group transferred production of certain 

European equipment products to the Commercial and Industrial Group, 

which reduced its intersegment sales for these products.

Segment gross profit of $128.7 million in 2003 was up $0.1 million, 

but decreased 10 basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. 

The increase in year-over-year gross profit includes $3.5 million of ben-

efits primarily from the realignment of production capabilities in certain 

European equipment lines and $3.2 million from currency translation. 

These increases, along with benefits from favorable net pricing, new 

product sales and LIFO benefits of $1.8 million from lower inventory 

levels, were partially offset by the combined net impact of a shift in 

product mix that included lower year-over-year sales of higher margin 

equipment and large-platform diagnostics and higher year-over-year 

sales in the lower margin facilitation business. Gross profit in 2003 was 

also adversely impacted by lower manufacturing cost absorption and 

$3.6 million in costs for restructuring activities, including $3.5 million 

of costs incurred in the fourth quarter of 2003 associated with the clos-

ing of the large-platform diagnostics facility. 

Segment operating expenses in 2003 increased $6.8 million, or 170 

basis points as a percentage of total segment revenue. The increase in 

operating expenses in 2003 included $9.3 million from new product 

sales expenses and expenses associated with the increased sales in the 

facilitation business, as well as $2.9 million of currency translation. In 

addition, year-over-year segment operating expenses included $1.6 mil-

lion for higher pension, other retirement and insurance costs. These 

increases in 2003 operating expenses were partially offset by $3.8 mil-

lion of benefits primarily from the realignment of production capabilities 

in certain European equipment lines and by $2.5 million from the 

fourth-quarter 2003 sales of certain facilities. Operating expenses in 

2002 included $2.6 million for the write-down of a receivable related to 

the closure of auto service centers associated with a major retailer’s 

bankruptcy. Segment operating expenses in 2002 were also lowered by 

$1.9 million from the reversal of excess restructuring accruals. As a 

result of these factors, segment operating earnings in 2003 decreased 

$6.7 million, or 180 basis points as a percentage of total segment rev-

enue, as compared to 2002.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity: Snap-on’s growth has historically been funded by a combination 

of cash provided by operating activities and debt financing. Snap-on 

believes that its cash from operations, coupled with its sources of  

borrowings, are sufficient to fund its anticipated requirements for  

working capital, capital expenditures and restructuring activities,  

acquisitions, common stock repurchases, scheduled debt repayments 

and dividend payments. Due to Snap-on’s credit rating over the years, 

external funds have been available at a reasonable cost. As of the  

date of the filing of the company’s fiscal 2004 Form 10-K, Snap-on’s 

long-term debt and commercial paper was rated A2 and P-1 by Moody’s 

Investors Service and A and A-1 by Standard & Poor’s. Snap-on believes 

that the strength of its balance sheet affords the company the financial 

flexibility to respond to both internal growth opportunities and those 

available through acquisitions.

The following discussion focuses on information included in the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Snap-on has been focused on improving asset utilization by making 

more effective use of its investment in certain working capital items. 

Termed “working investment,” the company uses this measure to assess 

management’s operating performance and effectiveness relative to those 

components of working capital that are more directly impacted by  

operational decisions. As of January 1, 2005, working investment of 

$689.0 million was down $19.2 million from $708.2 million at year-end 

2003. The following represents the company’s working investment posi-

tion as of January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004:

(Amounts in millions)  2004  2003 

Accounts receivable — net of allowances  $ 542.0  $ 546.8 

Inventories  341.9  351.1 

Less: Accounts payable  (194.9) (189.7)

Total working investment  $ 689.0  $ 708.2 

Accounts receivable at the end of 2004 was $542.0 million, down 

$4.8 million from year-end 2003 levels, notwithstanding an increase of  

$22.0 million from currency translation. At the end of 2004, days sales 

outstanding improved to 81 days from 88 days at January 3, 2004.

Inventories totaled $341.9 million at the end of 2004, down  

$9.2 million from year-end 2003 levels, including an increase of  

$17.5 million from currency translation. Inventories accounted for using 

the FIFO cost method as of January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, 

approximated 65% and 69% of total inventories. All other inventories 

are generally accounted for using the LIFO cost method. The company’s 

LIFO reserve declined from $81.8 million at January 3, 2004, to  

$76.3 million at January 1, 2005. Inventory turns at January 1, 2005, 

were 3.9 turns, as compared to 3.6 turns at year-end 2003.

Total notes payable and long-term debt was $331.0 million at the end 

of 2004, as compared to $333.2 million at year-end 2003. Cash and 

cash equivalents were $150.0 million as of January 1, 2005, and  

$96.1 million at the end of fiscal 2003. The increase in cash and cash 

equivalents was primarily due to cash flows from operating activities.

In August 2001, Snap-on issued $200 million of unsecured notes 

pursuant to a $300 million shelf registration statement filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission in 1994. In October 1995, 

Snap-on issued $100 million of unsecured notes to the public under  

this shelf registration. The August 2001 notes require semiannual  

interest payments at the rate of 6.25% and mature in their entirety on 

August 15, 2011. The October 1995 notes require semiannual  

interest payments at a rate of 6.625% and mature in their entirety on 

October 1, 2005.

Notes payable to banks under bank lines of credit totaled $2.5 million 

and $4.9 million at the end of 2004 and 2003. At the end of 2004 and 

2003, Snap-on had commercial paper outstanding of $25.0 million. The 

company currently anticipates that it will continue to have positive cash 

flow and debt reduction for the foreseeable future and, as a result, com-

mercial paper borrowings are included in “Notes payable and current 

maturities of long-term debt” on the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets. 

At January 1, 2005, Snap-on had a $400 million multi-currency 

revolving credit facility that terminates on July 27, 2009. This $400 

million facility replaced Snap-on’s $408 million of multi-currency revolv-

ing credit facilities. The $400 million multi-currency revolving credit 

facility’s financial covenant requires that Snap-on maintain a ratio of 

debt to the sum of total debt plus shareholders’ equity of not greater 

than 0.60 to 1.00. As of the date of the filing of the company’s fiscal 

2004 Form 10-K, Snap-on believes it is in compliance with all covenants 

of this revolving credit facility.

At January 1, 2005, Snap-on also had $20 million of unused commit-

ted bank lines of credit, of which $10 million expires on July 31, 2005, 

and $10 million expires on August 31, 2005. At January 1, 2005, 

Snap-on had approximately $395 million of unused available debt 

capacity under the terms of its revolving credit facility and committed 

bank lines of credit.

Snap-on maintains sufficient committed lines of credit and liquidity 

facilities to cover its expected funding needs on both a short-term and 

long-term basis. Snap-on manages its aggregate short-term borrowings 

so as not to exceed its availability under its revolving credit facility and 

committed lines of credit. The company accesses short-term debt mar-

kets, predominantly through commercial paper issuances, to fund its 

short-term requirements and to ensure near-term liquidity. Near-term 

liquidity requirements for Snap-on in 2005 include $100.3 million in 

scheduled debt repayments, funding of its restructuring activities, 

investments in capital expenditures, payments of dividends and share 

repurchases. As funding needs are determined to be of a longer-term 

nature, Snap-on could access medium- and long-term debt markets, as 

appropriate, to refinance short-term borrowings and, thus, replenish its 

short-term liquidity. Snap-on’s long-term financing strategy is to main-

tain continuous access to the debt markets to accommodate its liquidity 

needs. For additional information on Snap-on’s debt and credit facilities, 

refer to Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following discussion focuses on information included in the 

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Cash flow from operating activities was $146.8 million in 2004, 

including a $63.6 million voluntary U.S. pension contribution and a 

$10.0 million payment to the U.S. Department of Justice pursuant to an 

agreement to resolve a government audit relating to two contracts with 

the GSA, partially offset by a $10.7 million income tax refund, primarily 

resulting from a $78.2 million voluntary U.S. pension contribution made 

in the fourth quarter of 2003. Cash flow from operating activities in 2003 

was $177.0 million, including $92.2 million in pension plan contribu-

tions. Cash flow from operating activities in 2002 was $224.1 million. 

The consolidation of SOC as of January 4, 2004, did not have a material 

impact on cash flow.
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common stock is at the company’s discretion, subject to prevailing 

financial and market conditions. Snap-on repurchased 450,000 shares 

of common stock for $12.5 million in 2003 and 405,000 shares of com-

mon stock for $12.2 million in 2002. Snap-on believes that its cash 

generated from operations, as well as the funds available from its credit 

facilities, will be sufficient to fund the company’s share repurchases  

in 2005.

In June 2003, Snap-on received proceeds of $5.1 million for the  

termination of a $25 million interest rate swap that was a fair value 

hedge for a portion of its $200 million, 6.25% long-term notes. The  

$5.1 million is being amortized to income using the effective interest 

rate method over the remaining life of the notes, which mature on 

August 15, 2011. At the same time, Snap-on entered into a new  

$25 million interest rate swap to hedge that same portion of  

these notes.

�������������������� ���������������������� ����
��������������������������� ������������ ����
������������������������� ��������������� ����
������������������ ����������������������������� � ��

�������������������� ���������������������� ����
��������������������������� ������������ ����
������������������������� ��������������� � ��
������������������ ����������������������������� ����

��������������������������
���������������

�� �� �� �� ��

�� �� ��
�� ��

������������������������
���������������

���������������������
������������

��������������������������
������������

���� ����

�� �� �� �� ��

��
�� ��

��

������������������������
������������

�� �� �� �� ��

������ ��� ���� ����

���������������
������������

�� �� �� �� ��

���

���

���
��� ���

����������
���������������

�������������������������
���������������

��

��������������������
��������������������
���������������

�� �� �� �� ��

���
���

���

���
���

��������������������
�����������������
������������
���������������

���������������������
������������������������
������������

��������������

���������������

�� �� �� �� ��

���� ����
���� ����

����

�� �� �� �� ��

�����
����������

�����
�����

�� �� �� �� ��

���
���

���
��� ���

�� �� �� �� ��

� �
��

��

��� ��

�� �� �� �� ��

��
��

��
��

��

��

��

��

��

���
���

��

���

���

���
��

���

���������������������������������������������������������������

Snap-on has paid quarterly cash dividends, without interruption or 

decline, since 1939. Cash dividends paid in 2004, 2003 and 2002 

totaled $57.7 million, $58.2 million and $56.5 million.

    2004  2003  2002 

Cash dividends paid per  

 common share  $1.00  $1.00  $0.97 

Cash dividends paid as a percent  

 of prior-year retained earnings 5.3% 5.5% 5.6%

Snap-on believes that its cash generated from operations, as well as 

the funds available from its credit facilities, will be sufficient to pay 

dividends in 2005. 

Depreciation in 2004 was $58.5 million, compared with $58.2 mil-

lion in 2003 and $49.9 million in 2002. Amortization expense was  

$2.5 million in 2004, $2.1 million in 2003 and $1.8 million in 2002.

Capital expenditures in 2004 were $38.7 million, compared to  

$29.4 million in 2003 and $45.8 million in 2002. The declines in capi-

tal expenditures since 2002 reflect focused capital spending on invest-

ments in growth projects and the benefits of Lean initiatives and other 

cost reduction activities that have reduced the manufacturing footprint. 

Capital expenditures in all three years reflect new product, quality and 

cost-reduction capital investments, as well as ongoing replacements 

and upgrades of manufacturing and distribution facilities and equipment. 

Snap-on anticipates that 2005 capital expenditures will approximate  

$40 million to $45 million, of which two-thirds is expected to be used for 

investments relating to new products, quality enhancement or cost 

reduction. Snap-on believes that its cash generated from operations, as 

well as the funds available from its credit facilities, will be sufficient to 

fund the company’s capital expenditure requirements in 2005.

In the second quarter of 2004, Snap-on sold, at book value, its 70% 

interest in Texo s.r.l., a European manufacturer and developer of vehicle 

lifts, for approximately $0.6 million.

Snap-on has undertaken stock repurchases from time to time to offset 

dilution created by shares issued for employee and dealer stock pur-

chase plans, stock options, and other corporate purposes, as well as to 

repurchase shares when the company believes market conditions are 

favorable. In 2004,Snap-on repurchased 1,200,000 shares of common 

stock for $38.2 million under its previously announced share repurchase 

programs. As of January 1, 2005, Snap-on has remaining availability to 

repurchase up to an additional $127.9 million in common stock pursu-

ant to the Board of Directors’ authorizations. The purchase of Snap-on 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

Contractual Obligations and Commitments: A summary of Snap-on’s future contractual obligations and commitments as of January 1, 2005,  

is as follows: 

     Less Than  1 to 3  3 to 5  More Than  
(Amounts in millions)  Total  1 Year  Years  Years  5 Years 

Contractual obligations: 

Long-term debt  $303.5  $100.3  $   —  $   —  $203.2

Interest on fixed-rate debt  87.7  17.5  25.0  25.0 20.2 

Operating leases  141.3  31.6  36.6  21.4  51.7 

Purchase obligations  6.3  6.3  —  —  — 

Total   $538.8  $155.7  $61.6  $46.4  $275.1 

At January 1, 2005, $14.8 million of loans originated by SOC have a 

primary recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more than 

90 days past due. For information on SOC, long-term debt and operating 

leases see Notes 9, 10 and 17 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Environmental Matters: Snap-on is subject to various federal, state and 

local government requirements regulating the discharge of materials 

into the environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the envi-

ronment. Snap-on’s policy is to comply with these requirements, and 

the company believes that, as a general matter, its policies, practices 

and procedures are properly designed to prevent unreasonable risk of 

environmental damage, and of resulting financial liability, in connection 

with its business. Some risk of environmental damage is, however, 

inherent in some of Snap-on’s operations and products, as it is with 

other companies engaged in similar businesses.

Snap-on is and has been engaged in the handling, manufacture, use 

and disposal of many substances classified as hazardous or toxic by one 

or more regulatory agencies. The company believes that, as a general 

matter, its handling, manufacture, use and disposal of these substances 

are in accordance with environmental laws and regulations. It is possi-

ble, however, that future knowledge or other developments, such as 

improved capability to detect substances in the environment or increas-

ingly strict environmental laws and standards and enforcement policies, 

could bring into question the company’s handling, manufacture, use or 

disposal of these substances.

CONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE

SOC, a 50%-owned joint venture between Snap-on and CIT, provides a 

broad range of financial services to Snap-on’s U.S. dealer and customer 

network and to Snap-on’s industrial and other customers. Snap-on 

began consolidating SOC as of January 4, 2004, the beginning of 

Snap-on’s 2004 fiscal year, as a result of the adoption of FIN No. 46R. 

Snap-on previously accounted for SOC using the equity method. Snap-on 

and CIT have identical voting and participation rights and responsibili-

ties in SOC. Refer to Notes 2 and 9 of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements for additional information.

By establishing SOC, Snap-on effectively outsourced its domestic  

captive credit function to SOC. Snap-on receives royalty and manage-

ment fee income from SOC based on the volume of financings originated 

by SOC. Snap-on also shares ratably with CIT in any residual net profit 

or loss of the joint venture after operating expenses, including royalty 

and management fees, interest costs and credit loss provisions. Snap-on 

provides extended-term financing internationally through its wholly 

owned finance subsidiaries.

SOC sells substantially all of its originated contracts on a limited 

recourse basis to CIT, net of certain fees. SOC continues to service these 

contracts for an estimated market-rate servicing fee. In 2004, SOC orig-

inated contracts totaling $481.2 million, compared to $522.4 million in 

2003 and $506.3 million in 2002.

Financial information regarding SOC loan originations is as follows:

(Dollars in millions)  2004 2003 2002

Originations: 

Extended-credit receivables  $371.9  $381.8  $361.9 

Equipment leases  44.5  38.6  40.1 

Dealer financing  64.8  102.0  104.3 

Total    $481.2  $522.4  $506.3 

Number of accounts outstanding: 

Extended-credit receivables  183,502  186,356  181,567 

Equipment leases  12,823  13,476  14,754 

Dealer financing  3,866  3,765  3,214 

Total   200,191  203,597  199,535 

Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain SOC-originated contracts 

with recourse provisions against Snap-on (primarily for dealer van 

loans). At January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, $14.8 million and 

$14.1 million of loans, with terms ranging from six months to ten years, 

have a primary recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more 

than 90 days past due. The asset value of the collateral underlying these 

recourse loans would serve to mitigate Snap-on’s loss in the event of 

default. The estimated fair value of the guarantees for all loan origina-

tions with recourse as of January 1, 2005, was not material.

CIT and Snap-on have agreed to lend funds to support SOC’s working 

capital requirements on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum bor-

rowing limit not to exceed $24 million. As of January 1, 2005, SOC owed 

both Snap-on and CIT $0.5 million each pursuant to this agreement.

Snap-on’s exposure related to SOC as of January 1, 2005, was its  

$6.1 million investment and the $0.5 million working capital loan plus 
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the recourse obligations on customer financings, both discussed above. 

CIT’s investment in SOC of $6.1 million as of January 1, 2005, is 

included in “Other long-term liabilities” on the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

MARKET, CREDIT AND ECONOMIC RISKS

Market risk is the potential economic loss that may result from adverse 

changes in the fair value of financial instruments. Snap-on is exposed 

to market risk from changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and 

interest rates. Snap-on monitors its exposure to these risks and attempts 

to manage the underlying economic exposures through the use of finan-

cial instruments such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate 

swap agreements. Snap-on does not use derivative instruments for 

speculative or trading purposes. Snap-on’s broad-based business activ-

ities help to reduce the impact that volatility in any particular area or 

related areas may have on its operating earnings as a whole. Snap-on’s 

management takes an active role in the risk management process and 

has developed policies and procedures that require specific administra-

tive and business functions to assist in the identification, assessment 

and control of various risks.

Foreign Currency Risk Management: Snap-on has significant interna-

tional operations and is subject to certain risks inherent with foreign 

operations that include currency fluctuations and restrictions on  

movement of funds. Foreign exchange risk exists to the extent that 

Snap-on has payment obligations or receipts denominated in currencies 

other than the functional currency. To manage these exposures, Snap-on 

identifies naturally offsetting positions and then purchases hedging 

instruments to protect the residual net anticipated exposures. Snap-on’s 

financial position and results of operations have not been materially 

affected by such events to date. For additional information, refer to  

Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Interest Rate Risk Management: Snap-on’s interest rate risk manage-

ment policies are designed to reduce the potential volatility of earnings 

that could arise from changes in interest rates. Through the use of inter-

est rate swaps, Snap-on aims to stabilize funding costs by managing the 

exposure created by the differing maturities and interest rate structures 

of Snap-on’s assets and liabilities. For additional information, refer to 

Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Snap-on utilizes a Value-at-Risk (“VAR”) model to determine the 

potential one-day loss in the fair value of its interest rate and foreign 

exchange-sensitive financial instruments from adverse changes in  

market factors. The VAR model estimates were made assuming normal 

market conditions and a 95% confidence level. Snap-on’s computations 

are based on the inter-relationships among movements in various  

currencies and interest rates (variance/co-variance technique). These 

inter-relationships were determined by observing interest rate and for-

eign currency market changes over the preceding quarter.

The estimated maximum potential one-day loss in fair value,  

calculated using the VAR model, at January 1, 2005, was $0.6 million 

on interest rate-sensitive financial instruments and $0.7 million on for-

eign currency-sensitive financial instruments. The VAR model is a risk 

management tool and does not purport to represent actual losses in fair 

value that will be incurred by Snap-on, nor does it consider the potential 

effect of favorable changes in market factors.

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the possibility of loss from a customer’s failure 

to make payments according to contract terms. Prior to granting credit, 

each customer is evaluated, taking into consideration the borrower’s 

financial condition, collateral, debt-servicing capacity, past payment 

experience, credit bureau information and other financial and qualitative 

factors that may affect the borrower’s ability to repay. Specific credit 

reviews and standard industry credit scoring models are used in perform-

ing this evaluation. Loans that have been granted are typically monitored 

through an asset-quality-review process that closely monitors past due 

accounts and initiates collection actions when appropriate. In addition 

to its direct credit risk exposure, Snap-on also has credit risk exposure 

for certain SOC loan originations with recourse provisions against 

Snap-on (primarily for dealer van loans). At January 1, 2005, $14.8 mil-

lion of loans originated by SOC have a recourse provision to Snap-on if 

the loans become more than 90 days past due. For additional informa-

tion on SOC, refer to the section entitled “Consolidated Joint Venture” in 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis and to Note 9 of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Economic Risk: Economic risk is the possibility of loss resulting from 

economic instability in certain areas of the world. Snap-on continually 

monitors its exposure in these markets. Snap-on’s Commercial and 

Industrial Group includes a hand-tool manufacturing facility in Argentina 

with net assets of approximately $11 million as of January 1, 2005. 

Due to economic instability in Argentina, Snap-on resized its operations 

there in 2001 and will continue to assess Argentina’s economic situa-

tion to determine if any future actions or impairment write-downs  

are warranted. 

As a result of the above market, credit and economic risks, net income 

and revenues in any particular period may not be representative of full-

year results and may vary significantly from year to year and from quarter 

to quarter. Inflation has not had a significant impact on the company.

OTHER MATTERS

Acquisitions: In 2002, Snap-on acquired full ownership of two business 

operations for $7.9 million. The purchase price paid plus the liabilities 

assumed exceeded the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets 

acquired by approximately $3.7 million. Each of the acquisitions  

provided Snap-on with a complementary product line, new customer 

relationships, access to additional distribution and/or an extended geo-

graphic reach. Pro forma financial information has not been presented, 

as the effects of these businesses, individually and in the aggregate, 

were not material.

Government Contract Matters: On July 23, 2004, Snap-on reached an 

agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice to resolve the govern-
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (continued)

ment audit, previously discussed in the company’s 2003 Annual Report 

and Form 10-K, relating to two contracts with the GSA. Snap-on agreed 

to settle the claims over the interpretation and application of the price 

reduction and billing provisions of these two contracts for sales from 

March 1996 through the July 23, 2004, settlement date for $10.0 mil-

lion. Snap-on incurred a pretax charge of $3.6 million, or $0.04 per 

diluted share, in the second quarter of 2004 for costs not previously 

accrued. Snap-on remitted the $10.0 million cash settlement to the U.S. 

Department of Justice on August 5, 2004. On February 8, 2005, the 

GSA requested information from Snap-on to evaluate possible 

administrative action.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 of 

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements and related notes contain infor-

mation that is pertinent to management’s discussion and analysis. The 

preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting prin-

ciples generally accepted in the United States of America requires man-

agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These 

estimates are generally based on historical experience, current conditions 

and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily available from other sources, as well as identifying and assessing 

our accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contingen-

cies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Snap-on considers 

the following policies to be the most critical in understanding the  

judgments that are involved in the preparation of the company’s consoli-

dated financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact the 

company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts: Snap-on’s accounts receivable are 

reported net of estimated bad debt allowances, which are regularly 

evaluated by management for adequacy. The evaluations take into  

consideration various financial and qualitative factors that may affect 

customers’ ability to pay. These factors may include customers’ financial 

condition, collateral, debt-servicing capacity, past payment experience 

and credit bureau information. Snap-on regularly reviews the estimation 

process and adjusts the allowances as appropriate. It is possible, how-

ever, that the accuracy of Snap-on’s estimation process could be 

adversely impacted if the financial condition of its customers were to 

deteriorate. We do not believe Snap-on’s accounts receivable represent 

significant concentrations of credit risk because of the diversified port-

folio of individual customers and geographical areas.

Inventory Valuation: Snap-on values its inventory at the lower of cost or 

market and adjusts for the value of inventory that is estimated to be 

excess, obsolete or otherwise unmarketable. Inventory adjustments for 

raw materials are largely based on analysis of raw material age and 

actual physical inspection of raw material for fitness for use. As part of 

evaluating work-in-progress and finished goods, management reviews 

individual product SKUs by product category and product life cycle. 

Cost adjustments for each product category/product life-cycle state  

are generally established and maintained based on a combination of 

historical experience, forecasted sales and promotions, technological 

obsolescence, inventory age and other actual known conditions  

and circumstances. Should actual product marketability and raw mate-

rial fitness for use be affected by conditions that are different from 

management estimates, further adjustments to inventory allowances 

may be required.

Warranty Accruals: Snap-on provides product warranties for specific 

product lines and accrues for estimated future warranty costs in the 

period in which the sale is recorded. Snap-on calculates its accrual 

requirements based on historic warranty loss experience that is peri-

odically adjusted for recent actual experience, including the timing of 

claims during the warranty period and actual costs incurred. For addi-

tional information on Snap-on’s warranty accrual, refer to Note 17 of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pension Benefits: The calculation of Snap-on’s pension expense and 

projected benefit obligation requires the use of a number of assump-

tions. Changes in these assumptions are primarily influenced by factors 

outside of Snap-on’s control and can have a significant effect on the 

amounts reported in the financial statements. Snap-on believes that the 

two most critical assumptions are the expected return on plan assets 

and the assumed discount rate.

For a discussion of the development of Snap-on’s expected return on 

plan assets assumption, refer to Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements. Pension expense increases as the expected rate of return 

on plan assets decreases. Lowering the expected rate of return assump-

tion for Snap-on’s domestic pension plan assets by 0.5% would increase 

Snap-on’s 2005 domestic pension expense by approximately $3 million. 

At year-end 2004, Snap-on’s domestic plan assets comprised approxi-

mately 90% of Snap-on’s worldwide pension plan assets.

Snap-on establishes the discount rate using the current rates earned 

on long-term bonds with a Moody’s Aa rating. Pension expense and 

projected benefit obligation both increase as the discount rate is 

reduced. Lowering Snap-on’s domestic discount rate assumption by 

0.5% would increase Snap-on’s 2005 domestic pension expense and 

projected benefit obligation by approximately $3 million and $43 mil-

lion, respectively. At year-end 2004, Snap-on’s domestic projected ben-

efit obligation comprised approximately 84% of Snap-on’s worldwide 

projected benefit obligation.
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Income Taxes: The company records a valuation allowance to reduce  

its deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion or 

all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. While the company has 

considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible  

tax strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, if these 

estimates and assumptions change in the future, the company may  

be required to adjust its valuation allowance. This could result in a charge 

to, or an increase in, income in the period such determination is made.

In addition, the company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions 

and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. The company records 

accruals for the estimated outcomes of these audits, and the accruals 

may change in the future due to new developments in each matter.

OUTLOOK

Substantial transformation has already occurred in reducing plant 

redundancies and improving manufacturing processes through the 

application of Lean business tools in the last few years. This transforma-

tion provides a solid foundation to build upon for the future. Through its 

ongoing commitment to the use of Lean tools, Snap-on anticipates  

further strengthening its marketplace competitiveness and enhancing 

customer responsiveness.

In 2005, as part of longer-term ongoing initiatives, Snap-on expects 

to focus efforts on improving customer service levels, particularly those 

relating to production issues in our U.S. hand-tool plants, reducing com-

plexities and associated costs throughout our organization, strengthen-

ing and growing our U.S. dealer van franchise system, delivering 

continued improvements in our global Commercial and Industrial  

businesses, and further enhancing our leading marketplace position for 

diagnostics and information products.

There will be costs associated with a number of these actions antici-

pated to occur throughout 2005. Primarily as a result of the accelerated 

pace for staffing and other cost reduction efforts, we expect first-quarter 

2005 results to include charges of approximately $10 million to  

$12 million. For all of 2005, we expect restructuring costs to total 

approximately $20 million to $25 million. These costs notwithstanding, 

we expect earnings in 2005 to show an improving trend and to exceed 

full-year 2004 earnings.

SAFE HARBOR

Statements in this document that are not historical facts, including 

statements (i) that include the words “expects,” “targets,” “plans,” 

“intends,” “estimates,” “believes,” “anticipates,” or similar words that 

reference Snap-on or its management; (ii) specifically identified as for-

ward-looking; or (iii) describing Snap-on’s or management’s future out-

look, plans, estimates, objectives or goals, are forward-looking 

statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 

Reform Act of 1995. Snap-on or its representatives may also make 

similar forward-looking statements from time to time orally or in writing. 

Snap-on cautions the reader that any forward-looking statements 

included in this document that are based upon assumptions and esti-

mates were developed by management in good faith and that manage-

ment believes such assumptions and estimates to be reasonable as of 

the date of this document. However, these statements are subject to 

risks, uncertainties or other factors, including some events that may not 

be within the control of the company, that could cause (and in some 

cases have caused) actual results to differ materially from those 

described in any such statement. Some of these factors are discussed 

below, as well as elsewhere in this document, and in other Snap-on 

Securities and Exchange Commission filings.

These risks and uncertainties include, without limitation, uncertainties 

related to estimates, assumptions and projections generally, and the 

timing and progress with which Snap-on can attain savings from cost 

reduction actions, including its ability to implement and complete 

planned reductions in workforce, achieve improvements in the com-

pany’s manufacturing footprint, successfully manage relationships with 

suppliers, achieve improvements in supply chain efficiencies, and 

enhance machine maintenance, plant productivity, and manufacturing 

line set-up and change-over practices, any or all of which could result 

in production inefficiencies, higher cost and lost revenues. These risks 

also include uncertainties related to Snap-on’s capability to retain and 

attract dealers, capture new business, introduce successful new prod-

ucts, as well as its ability to withstand disruption arising from planned 

facility closures, or other labor interruptions, and external negative fac-

tors including terrorist disruptions on business; potential changes in 

trade, monetary and fiscal policies, regulatory reporting requirements, 

laws and regulations, or other activities of governments or their agen-

cies, including military actions and such aftermath that might occur; 

the absence of significant changes in the current competitive environ-

ment, inflation and other monetary fluctuations, interest rates, legal 

proceedings, and energy and raw material supply and pricing (including 

steel), supplier and contract manufacturer disruptions, the amount of 

Snap-on’s general and administrative expenses (e.g. health care and/or 

pension costs) or the material worsening of economic situations around 

the world, particularly in North America and/or Europe, its ability to 

increase prices due to higher raw material costs, and the effect of new 

accounting standards and/or legislation. In addition, investors should be 

aware that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America prescribe when a company should reserve for particular risks, 

including litigation exposures. Accordingly, results for a given reporting 

period could be significantly affected if and when an accrual is estab-

lished for a major contingency. Reported results, therefore, may appear 

to be volatile in certain accounting periods.

These factors may not constitute all factors that could cause actual 

results to differ materially from those discussed in any forward-looking 

statement. Snap-on operates in a continually changing business envi-

ronment and new factors emerge from time to time. Snap-on cannot 

predict such factors nor can it assess the impact, if any, of such factors 

on Snap-on’s financial position or its results of operations. Accordingly, 

forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of 

actual results or regarded as a representation by the company or its 

management that the projected results will be achieved. Snap-on  

disclaims any responsibility to update any forward-looking statement 

provided in this document.
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(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 

Net sales $2,329.1 $2,233.2 $2,109.1 

Financial services revenue 78.1 — — 

Total revenue 2,407.2 2,233.2 2,109.1 

Cost of goods sold (1,319.8) (1,268.5) (1,144.2)

Operating expenses (945.1) (858.4) (804.3)

Net finance income — 43.8 37.7 

Operating earnings 142.3 150.1 198.3 

Interest expense (23.0) (24.4) (28.7)

Other income (expense) — net 1.1 (9.0) (8.4)

Earnings before income taxes 120.4 116.7 161.2 

Income tax expense (38.7) (38.0) (58.0) 

Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 81.7 78.7 103.2 

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — 2.8 

Net earnings $   81.7 $   78.7 $  106.0 

 

Net earnings per share — basic 

 Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $   1.41 $   1.35 $   1.77 

 Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — 0.05 

Net earnings per share — basic $   1.41 $   1.35 $   1.82 

 

Net earnings per share — diluted 

 Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $   1.40 $   1.35 $   1.76 

 Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — 0.05 

Net earnings per share — diluted $   1.40 $   1.35 $   1.81 

 

Weighted-average shares outstanding 

 Basic 57.9 58.2 58.2 

 Effect of dilutive options 0.4 0.2 0.3 

 Diluted 58.3 58.4 58.5 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
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    January 1, January 3, 
(Amounts in millions, except share data) 2005 2004 

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $  150.0 $  96.1 

Accounts receivable — net of allowances 542.0 546.8 

Inventories 341.9 351.1 

Deferred income tax benefits 77.1 71.4 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 81.6 66.3 

Total current assets 1,192.6 1,131.7 

Property and equipment — net 313.6 328.6 

Deferred income tax benefits 9.4 16.1 

Goodwill 441.1 417.6 

Other intangibles — net 70.0 69.5 

Pension assets 159.7 76.8 

Other assets 103.7 98.2 

Total assets $2,290.1 $2,138.5 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $  194.9 $  189.7 

Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt 127.8 30.2 

Accrued benefits 34.5 35.3 

Accrued compensation 57.2 49.2 

Dealer deposits 46.9 49.9 

Deferred subscription revenue 26.2 20.6 

Income taxes 21.9 20.1 

Other accrued liabilities 164.8 172.2 

Total current liabilities 674.2 567.2 

Long-term debt 203.2 303.0 

Deferred income taxes 76.5 34.3 

Retiree health care benefits 89.0 89.3 

Pension liabilities 73.3 74.2 

Other long-term liabilities 63.2 59.6 

Total liabilities 1,179.4 1,127.6 

Shareholders’ equity

Preferred stock — authorized 15,000,000 shares of $1 par value; none outstanding — — 

Common stock — authorized 250,000,000 shares of $1 par value;  

 issued 67,004,903 and 66,956,246 shares 67.0 67.0 

Additional paid-in capital 105.8 94.5 

Retained earnings 1,108.7 1,084.7 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 129.1 38.6 

Grantor stock trust at fair market value — 4,278,561 and 5,007,809 shares (147.0) (159.2)

Treasury stock at cost — 4,974,764 and 3,774,764 shares (152.9) (114.7)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,110.7 1,010.9 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $2,290.1 $2,138.5 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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        Accumulated  
    Common Common Additional  Other Grantor  Total  
    Stock Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stock Treasury Shareholders’  
(Amounts in millions, except share data) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Trust Stock Equity 

Balance at December 29, 2001 66,847,107 $66.8 $108.0 $1,014.7 $(120.6) $(203.0) $ (90.1) $ 775.8 
Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net earnings for 2002    106.0    106.0
 Foreign currency translation     55.5   55.5
 Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net 
  of tax of $1.0 million (net unrealized holding 
  losses of $2.5 million and net losses reclassed 
  to net income of $1.2 million)     (1.3)   (1.3)
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $36.8 million     (57.4)   (57.4)
Total comprehensive income        102.8
Cash dividends — $0.97 per share    (56.5)    (56.5)
Dividend reinvestment plan 45,649 0.1 1.3     1.4
Stock compensation plans 4,750  1.4     1.4
Grantor stock trust — 661,468 shares      16.1  16.1
Share repurchase — net of reissuance —  
 403,027 shares       (12.2) (12.2)
Tax benefit from certain stock options   1.6     1.6
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to  
 fair market value   (39.4)   39.4  — 

Balance at December 28, 2002 66,897,506 66.9 72.9 1,064.2 (123.8) (147.5) (102.3) 830.4
Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net earnings for 2003    78.7    78.7
 Foreign currency translation     131.5   131.5
 Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net 
  of tax of $1.0 million (net unrealized holding 
  gains of $1.1 million and net losses reclassed 
  to net income of $0.5 million)     1.6   1.6
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $17.8 million     29.3   29.3
Total comprehensive income        241.1
Cash dividends — $1.00 per share    (58.2)    (58.2)
Dividend reinvestment plan 54,504 0.1 1.5     1.6
Stock compensation plans 4,236  0.1     0.1
Grantor stock trust — 314,168 shares      7.9  7.9
Share repurchase — net of reissuance —  
 448,302 shares       (12.4) (12.4)
Tax benefit from certain stock options   0.4     0.4
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to  
 fair market value   19.6   (19.6)  — 

Balance at January 3, 2004 66,956,246 67.0 94.5 1,084.7 38.6 (159.2) (114.7) 1,010.9
Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net earnings for 2004    81.7    81.7
 Foreign currency translation     65.9   65.9
 Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net 
  of tax of $0.9 million (net unrealized holding 
  gains of $1.1 million and net losses reclassed 
  to net income of $0.4 million)     1.5   1.5
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $14.3 million     23.1   23.1
Total comprehensive income        172.2
Cash dividends — $1.00 per share    (57.7)    (57.7)
Dividend reinvestment plan 42,881  1.4     1.4
Stock compensation plans 5,776  0.2     0.2
Grantor stock trust — 729,248 shares      20.1  20.1
Share repurchase — 1,200,000 shares       (38.2) (38.2)
Dealer stock purchase plan discount   0.1     0.1
Accelerated vesting of stock options   0.4     0.4
Tax benefit from certain stock options   1.3     1.3
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to  
 fair market value   7.9   (7.9)  — 

Balance at January 1, 2005 67,004,903 $67.0 $ 105.8 $ 1,108.7 $ 129.1 $ (147.0) $(152.9) $1,110.7 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

38 SNAP-ON INCORPORATED 2004



(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Operating activities

Net earnings $  81.7 $  78.7 $ 106.0 

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash  

  provided (used) by operating activities: 

 Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — (2.8)

 Depreciation 58.5 58.2 49.9 

 Amortization of other intangibles 2.5 2.1 1.8 

 Deferred income tax provision 21.6 9.9 33.5 

 Loss (gain) on sale of assets (2.8) 0.2 (0.3)

 Loss (gain) on mark to market for cash flow hedges 1.5 1.6 (1.3)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities,  

  net of effects of acquisitions: 

 (Increase) decrease in receivables 47.3 64.3 42.5 

 (Increase) decrease in inventories 23.7 60.7 25.8 

 (Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets (81.9) (68.9) 33.0 

 Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (9.6) 4.4 22.1 

 Increase (decrease) in accruals and other liabilities 4.3 (34.2) (86.1)

Net cash provided by operating activities 146.8 177.0 224.1 

 

Investing activities

Capital expenditures (38.7) (29.4) (45.8)

Acquisitions of businesses — net of cash acquired — 0.1 (7.9)

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 17.3 8.7 6.0 

Proceeds from disposition of business 0.6 — — 

Net cash used in investing activities (20.8) (20.6) (47.7)

 

Financing activities

Payment of long-term debt (0.5) (0.3) (1.9)

Net decrease in short-term borrowings (2.9) (28.9) (116.0)

Purchase of treasury stock (38.2) (12.5) (12.2)

Proceeds from stock purchase and option plans 23.6 10.0 20.5 

Proceeds from termination of interest rate swap agreement — 5.1 — 

Cash dividends paid (57.7) (58.2) (56.5)

Net cash used in financing activities (75.7) (84.8) (166.1)

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3.6 6.1 1.4 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 53.9 77.7 11.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 96.1 18.4 6.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 150.0 $  96.1 $  18.4 

 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures

Cash paid for interest $  22.9 $  24.1 $  29.9 

Cash paid for income taxes 22.0 39.8 9.1 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Snap-on Incorporated (“Snap-on” or “the company”) was incorporated 

under the laws of the state of Wisconsin in 1920 and reincorporated 

under the laws of the state of Delaware in 1930. Snap-on is a leading 

global innovator, manufacturer and marketer of high-quality tool,  

diagnostic and equipment solutions for professional tool and equipment 

users. Product lines include a broad range of hand and power tools, tool 

storage, saws and cutting tools, pruning tools, vehicle service diagnostics 

equipment, vehicle service equipment, including wheel service, safety 

testing and collision repair equipment, vehicle service information, busi-

ness management systems, equipment repair services, and other tool 

and equipment solutions. Snap-on’s customers include automotive 

technicians, vehicle service centers, manufacturers, industrial tool and 

equipment users, and those involved in commercial applications such 

as construction, electrical and agriculture. Products are sold through 

Snap-on’s franchised dealer van, company-direct, distributor and 

Internet sales channels.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation and presentation: The consolidated financial 

statements include the accounts of Snap-on, its majority-owned  

subsidiaries and, beginning in 2004, Snap-on Credit LLC (“SOC”), a 

50%-owned joint venture with The CIT Group, Inc. (“CIT”). All significant 

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.  

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 

current-year presentation.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(“FASB”) issued Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46R, “Consolidation of 

Variable Interest Entities (an interpretation of ARB No. 51),” which 

became effective for Snap-on at the beginning of its 2004 fiscal year. FIN 

No. 46R provides consolidation guidance regarding the identification of 

variable interest entities (“VIE”) for which control is achieved through 

means other than through voting rights. FIN No. 46R provides guidance 

in determining if a business enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a  

VIE and whether or not that business enterprise should consolidate  

the VIE for financial reporting purposes. Based on the company’s  

analysis of FIN No. 46R, the company concluded that Snap-on would 

consolidate SOC as of January 4, 2004, the beginning of Snap-on’s 2004 

fiscal year. Snap-on previously accounted for SOC using the equity 

method. As Snap-on consolidated SOC on a prospective basis, previously 

issued financial statements have not been restated to reflect the  

consolidation of SOC. The impact of the consolidation of SOC on 

Snap-on’s consolidated balance sheet was not significant. Refer to Note 

9 for additional information. In addition, as a result of the consolidation 

of SOC in fiscal 2004, Snap-on is reporting the results of its finance  

operations as a new business segment, “Financial Services.” Refer to 

Note 18 for additional information.

Financial services: Beginning in 2004, financial services revenue  

consists of SOC’s sales of originated contracts and service fee income, 

as well as installment contract revenue and dealer loan receivable  

revenue derived from SOC and Snap-on’s wholly owned international 

finance operations. Administrative expenses from Snap-on’s financial 

services business are included in “Operating expenses” on the accom-

panying Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Net finance income: In 2003 and 2002, prior to the consolidation of 

SOC, net finance income consisted of royalty and management fees 

received from SOC based on the volume of financings originated by SOC, 

as well as installment contract revenue and dealer loan receivable rev-

enue derived from Snap-on’s wholly owned international finance opera-

tions, net of administrative expenses. Administrative expenses related 

to Snap-on’s wholly owned international finance operations totaled  

$13.4 million in 2003 and $9.5 million in 2002.

Fiscal year accounting period: Snap-on’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday 

nearest December 31. The 2004 and 2002 fiscal years each contained  

52 weeks and ended on January 1, 2005, and December 28, 2002. 

Snap-on’s 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks and ended on  

January 3, 2004.

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, 

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the report-

ing period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition: Snap-on recognizes revenue when all of the  

following conditions are satisfied: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrange-

ment exists; (ii) the price is fixed or determinable; (iii) collectibility is 

reasonably assured; and (iv) delivery has occurred or services have been 

rendered. Snap-on establishes an accrual for estimated future product 

returns in the period in which the sale is recorded. Estimated returns are 

based upon past experience and include assumptions of the expected 

return period, gross profit margin, and volume of sales returns. Franchise 

fee revenue is recognized as the fees are earned; such revenue was not 

material in any year. Subscription revenue is deferred and recognized 

over the life of the subscription. 

Research and engineering: Research and engineering costs are  

charged to expense in the year incurred. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, 

research and engineering costs totaled $60.8 million, $59.8 million and 

$57.1 million.
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Shipping and handling: Amounts billed to customers for shipping and 

handling are included as a component of sales. Costs incurred by 

Snap-on for shipping and handling are generally included as a compo-

nent of cost of goods sold when the costs relate to manufacturing activ-

ities. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, Snap-on incurred shipping and handling 

charges of $17.0 million, $15.9 million and $15.7 million that were 

recorded in “Cost of goods sold” on the accompanying Consolidated 

Statements of Earnings. Shipping and handling costs incurred in  

conjunction with selling or distribution activities are generally included 

as a component of operating expenses. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, 

Snap-on incurred shipping and handling charges of $57.8 million, $50.3 

million and $44.3 million that were recorded in “Operating expenses” on 

the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Advertising and promotion: Production costs of future media advertising 

are deferred until the advertising occurs. All other advertising and  

promotion costs are generally expensed when incurred. For 2004, 2003 

and 2002, advertising and promotion expense totaled $49.8 million, 

$51.0 million and $46.7 million.

Warranties: Snap-on provides product warranties for specific product 

lines and accrues for estimated future warranty costs in the period in 

which the sale is recorded. Refer to Note 17 for additional information.

Foreign currency translation: The financial statements of Snap-on’s  

foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52, “Foreign 

Currency Translation.” Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are 

translated at current rates of exchange, and income and expense items 

are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The resulting 

translation adjustments are recorded directly into “Accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss)” in the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets. Foreign exchange transactions resulted in pretax losses 

of $0.7 million in 2004, $6.6 million in 2003 and $4.4 million in 2002. 

Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are reported in “Other 

income (expense) — net” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements 

of Earnings.

Income taxes: Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary  

differences arising from differences in bases of assets and liabilities for 

tax and financial reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are 

recorded on temporary differences at the tax rate expected to be in 

effect when the temporary differences reverse. Refer to Note 12 for 

additional information.

Minority interest: Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries 

for 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $2.0 million, $3.1 million and $3.4 

million and is included in “Other income (expense) — net” on the 

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. At the end of 2004 

and 2003, minority interest in subsidiaries totaled $22.3 million and  

$16.0 million and is included in “Other long-term liabilities” on the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivatives: Snap-on utilizes derivative financial instruments, including 

interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts, to manage its expo-

sure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks. Snap-on 

accounts for its derivatives in accordance with SFAS No. 133, 

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as 

amended by SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149. Snap-on does not hold or 

issue financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. Refer to 

Note 11 for additional information.

Per share data: Basic earnings per share calculations were computed by 

dividing net earnings by the corresponding weighted-average number of 

common shares outstanding for the period. The dilutive effect of the 

potential exercise of outstanding options to purchase common shares is 

calculated using the treasury stock method. Snap-on had dilutive shares 

as of year-end 2004, 2003 and 2002, of 448,098 shares, 171,395 

shares and 271,051 shares. Options to purchase 2,352,111 shares, 

3,694,950 shares and 2,668,711 shares of Snap-on common stock at 

year-end 2004, 2003 and 2002 were not included in the computation 

of diluted earnings per share as the exercise prices of the options were 

greater than the average market price of the common stock for the 

respective year and, as a result, the effect on earnings per share would 

be anti-dilutive. 

Stock-based employee compensation arrangements: Snap-on has various 

stock-based employee compensation plans. Snap-on accounts for its 

stock-based employee compensation under Accounting Principles Board 

(“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” 

Refer to Note 15 for additional information.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based 

Payment.” Refer to “Accounting pronouncements” below for additional 

information.

Concentrations: Snap-on is exposed to credit losses in the event of  

non-performance by the counterparties to its interest rate swap and 

foreign exchange contracts. Snap-on does not obtain collateral or other 

security to support its financial instruments subject to credit risk, but 

monitors the credit standing of the counterparties and enters into agree-

ments only with financial institution counterparties with a credit rating 

of A- or better. Snap-on does not anticipate non-performance by its 

counterparties.

Snap-on’s accounts receivable do not represent significant concentra-

tions of credit risk because of the diversified portfolio of individual  

customers and geographic areas.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Approximately 3,400 employees, or 29% of Snap-on’s worldwide 

workforce, are represented by unions and/or covered under collective 

bargaining agreements. Of these, approximately 1,580 are covered 

under various European national union agreements that are renewed on 

an annual basis. Approximately 1,730 employees are covered under 

agreements expiring in 2005, including approximately 980 covered 

under various European national union agreements. In recent years, 

Snap-on has not experienced any significant work slow-downs, stop-

pages or other labor disruptions.

Cash equivalents: Snap-on considers all highly liquid investments with 

an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash 

equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Inventories: Inventories consist of manufactured products and merchan-

dise for resale. Manufactured products include the costs of materials, 

labor and manufacturing overhead. Most of Snap-on’s inventories are 

valued at the lower of cost, on the “first-in, first-out” (“FIFO”) basis, or  

market. Remaining inventories are generally valued at cost, on the “last-

in, first-out” (“LIFO”) basis. Inventories accounted for using the FIFO basis 

represented 65% and 69% of total gross inventories on January 1, 2005, 

and January 3, 2004. Refer to Note 6 for additional information.

Property and equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortiza-

tion are provided on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives. 

Major repairs that extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized, 

while routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 

Capitalized software included in property and equipment reflects costs 

related to internally developed or purchased software for internal use 

and is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives. Development costs for computer software to be sold, leased or 

otherwise marketed externally are also capitalized once technological 

feasibility has been achieved and are amortized on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives. Capitalized software is subject to an 

ongoing assessment of recoverability based upon anticipated future rev-

enues and identified changes in hardware and software technologies. 

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment in accordance with the 

provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 

of Long-Lived Assets.” Refer to Note 7 for additional information.

Goodwill and other intangible assets: Snap-on adopted SFAS No. 142, 

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” at the beginning of its 2002 

fiscal year. SFAS No. 142 requires the testing of goodwill and indefinite-

lived intangible assets for impairment, at least annually, as compared 

to the past method of amortizing such assets to expense on a straight-

line basis over their estimated useful lives. Snap-on evaluates annually, 

and when significant changes in expected long-term performance or 

other events arise, the existence of goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-

gible asset impairment on the basis of whether the assets are fully 

recoverable from projected, discounted cash flows of the related busi-

ness unit. Refer to Note 8 for additional information.

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles: Snap-on recorded 

a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle transition adjust-

ment that increased net earnings in the first quarter of 2002 by  

$2.8 million, on both a pretax and after-tax basis, from the recognition 

of negative goodwill as prescribed by SFAS No. 142. Refer to Note 8 for 

additional information. 

Accounting pronouncements: In December 2004, the FASB issued  

SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets an amendment of 

APB Opinion No. 29,” which eliminates the exception from fair value 

measurements for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets 

and replaces it with an exception for exchanges that do not have com-

mercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance 

if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly 

as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary 

asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 

2005, with earlier adoption permitted. Snap-on will adopt SFAS No. 153 

on July 3, 2005, the beginning of its fiscal 2005 third quarter. The 

company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have 

a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial position or 

results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based 

Payment.” SFAS No. 123R eliminates the alternative to use Opinion No. 

25’s intrinsic value method of accounting that was provided in SFAS No. 

123 as originally issued. SFAS No. 123R requires entities to recognize 

the cost of employee services in exchange for awards of equity instru-

ments based on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited 

exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the period during which 

the employee is required to provide the service in exchange for the 

award. No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for 

which employees do not render the requisite service. SFAS No. 123R 

requires entities to initially measure the cost of employee services 

received in exchange for an award of liability instruments based on its 

current fair value; the fair value of the award will be remeasured at each 

reporting date through the settlement date. Changes in fair value during 

the requisite service period will be recognized as compensation cost 

over that period. The grant date fair value of employee share options 

and similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models 

adjusted for the unique characteristics of those instruments. SFAS No. 

123R is effective as of the beginning of the first interim or annual report-

ing period that begins after June 15, 2005. Snap-on will adopt SFAS No. 

123R on July 3, 2005, the beginning of its fiscal 2005 third quarter. The 

company is currently assessing the impact the adoption of SFAS No. 

123R will have on the company’s consolidated financial position or 

results of operations.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs 

an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4,” which requires idle facility 

expenses, excessive spoilage, and double freight and rehandling costs 

to be treated as current period charges and also requires that the alloca-

tion of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based 

on the normal capacity of the production facilities. Accounting Research 
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Bulletin No. 43, “Inventory Pricing,” previously required such expenses 

to be treated as current period expenses only if they meet the criterion 

of “so abnormal,” which was not a defined term. SFAS No. 151 is effec-

tive for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 

15, 2005, with earlier adoption permitted. Snap-on will adopt SFAS No. 

151 on January 1, 2006. The company does not believe that the adop-

tion of SFAS No. 151 will have a material impact on the company’s 

consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), 

“Employer’s Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement 

Benefits,” that revises employer’s disclosures about pension plans and 

other postretirement benefit plans. SFAS No. 132 does not change the 

measurement or recognition of those plans. Refer to Notes 13 and 14 

for additional information.

NOTE 3: ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

In 2004, Snap-on disposed of a business for $0.6 million. In 2002, 

Snap-on acquired full ownership of two businesses for $7.9 million. The 

purchase price paid plus the liabilities assumed for these two acquisi-

tions exceeded the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets 

acquired by approximately $3.7 million. The purchase accounting for 

the two acquisitions was finalized in 2003. Pro forma financial informa-

tion has not been presented as the effects of these businesses,  

individually and in the aggregate, were not material.

NOTE 4: EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES

During 2004, Snap-on recorded costs associated with exit and  

disposal activities of $21.7 million, including charges of $16.0 million 

that are included in “Cost of goods sold” and charges of $5.7 million 

that are included in “Operating expenses” on the accompanying 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Of the $21.7 million in costs 

incurred for exit and disposal activities in 2004, $10.7 million qualified 

for accrual treatment. Costs associated with exit and disposal activities 

incurred in 2004 primarily related to the phase out of production at two 

U.S. hand-tool manufacturing facilities; closure of a German hand-tool 

plant that was consolidated into the company’s Spanish operation; the 

elimination of one plant in Spain through further consolidation; the 

movement of production of certain saw products from the United 

Kingdom to Eastern Europe; and management realignment actions at 

various other Snap-on facilities.

Snap-on’s 2004 exit and disposal accrual activity related to 2004 

actions was as follows:

      Balance at  
    Provision Usage January 1,  
(Amounts in millions) In 2004 in 2004 2005 

Severance costs:

Snap-on Dealer Group $0.1 $  — $0.1 

Commercial and 

 Industrial Group 5.5 (3.3) 2.2 

Diagnostics and 

 Information Group 0.4 (0.2) 0.2 

Facility consolidation  

 or closure costs:

Commercial and 

 Industrial Group 0.3 (0.2) 0.1 

Total   $6.3 $(3.7) $2.6 

Exit and disposal accrual usage of $3.7 million in 2004 consisted of 

$3.5 million for severance payments and $0.2 million for lease termi-

nation payments. Snap-on anticipates that the exit and disposal  

activities accrual related to its 2004 actions will be fully utilized by the 

end of the second quarter of 2005. 

Snap-on’s exit and disposal accrual activity related to 2003 actions was as follows:

      Balance at   Balance at  
    Provision Usage January 3, Provision Usage January 1,  
(Amounts in millions) in 2003 in 2003 2004 in 2004 in 2004 2005 

Severance costs:

Snap-on Dealer Group $ 7.6 $(3.7) $3.9 $3.6 $(6.8) $0.7 

Commercial and Industrial Group 2.8 (1.7) 1.1 0.5 (1.4) 0.2 

Diagnostics and Information Group 1.0 (0.1) 0.9 — (0.9) — 

Facility consolidation or closure costs:

Snap-on Dealer Group 0.1 (0.1) — — — — 

Diagnostics and Information Group 0.3 — 0.3 0.1 (0.4) — 

Total   $11.8 $(5.6) $6.2 $4.2 $(9.5) $0.9 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Exit and disposal accrual usage of $9.5 million in 2004 consisted of 

$9.1 million for severance payments and $0.4 million for facility closure 

costs. Snap-on anticipates that the exit and disposal activities accrual 

related to its 2003 actions will be fully utilized by the end of the first 

quarter of 2005.

Snap-on expects to fund the remaining cash requirements of its 2004 

and 2003 exit and disposal activities with cash flows from operations and 

borrowings under the company’s existing credit facilities. The estimated 

costs for the exit and disposal activities were based on management’s 

best business judgment under prevailing circumstances.

NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable include trade accounts, installment and other 

receivables, including the current portion of dealer financing receiv-

ables. The components of Snap-on’s current accounts receivable as of 

fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Trade accounts receivable $487.6 $501.8 

Installment receivables, net of  

 unearned finance charges of  

 $12.3 million and $11.4 million 51.0 55.1 

Other accounts receivable 49.9 34.9 

Total   588.5 591.8 

Allowances for doubtful accounts (46.5) (45.0)

Total accounts receivable  — net $542.0 $546.8 

The long-term portion of accounts receivable is classified in “Other 

assets” on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and is com-

prised of installment and other receivables, including dealer financing 

receivables, with payment terms that are due beyond one year. The 

components of Snap-on’s long-term accounts receivable as of fiscal 

year-end 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Installment receivables, net of  

 unearned finance charges of  

 $7.6 million and $9.1 million $50.9 $41.9 

Other long-term accounts receivable 18.8 19.8 

Total   $69.7 $61.7 

NOTE 6: INVENTORIES

Inventories by major classification as of fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003 

are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Finished goods $308.6 $305.7 

Work in progress 40.0 46.5 

Raw materials 69.6 80.7 

Total FIFO value 418.2 432.9 

Excess of current cost over LIFO cost (76.3) (81.8)

Total inventories $341.9 $351.1 

LIFO inventory liquidations of $1.9 million and $15.1 million during 

2004 and 2003 are reflected as a reduction of “Cost of goods sold” on 

the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

NOTE 7: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Snap-on’s property and equipment values, which are carried at cost, as 

of fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Land  $ 25.7 $ 26.9 

Buildings and improvements 223.0 217.8 

Machinery and equipment 578.9 580.4 

    827.6 825.1 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (514.0) (496.5)

Property and equipment — net $313.6 $328.6 

The estimated service lives of property and equipment are principally 

as follows:

Buildings and improvements  3 to 50 years 

Machinery and equipment  2 to 15 years 

Computer software  2 to 7 years 

Transportation vehicles  2 to 6 years 
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NOTE 8: ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of segment goodwill for fiscal 2004 

and 2003 are as follows:

    Snap-on Commercial Diagnostics and  
    Dealer and Industrial Information  
(Amounts in millions) Group Group Group Total 

Balance as of  

 December 28, 2002 $14.6 $283.1 $68.7 $366.4 

Finalization of  

 purchase accounting (2.5) — 0.4 (2.1)

Currency translation 0.2 53.0 0.1 53.3 

Balance as of  

 January 3, 2004 12.3 336.1 69.2 417.6 

Finalization of  

 purchase accounting — (1.1) (0.1) (1.2)

Sale of business — (0.8) — (0.8)

Currency translation — 25.4 0.1 25.5 

Balance as of  

 January 1, 2005 $ 12.3 $ 359.6 $ 69.2 $ 441.1 

During the third quarter of 2004, Snap-on realigned certain of its 

business units within its reportable segments. Prior-period figures  

provided above have been restated to reflect the reportable business 

segment realignments. Refer to Note 18 for additional information.

Additional disclosures related to other intangible assets as of fiscal 

year-end 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

    2004 2003 

    Gross  Gross 
    Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated  
(Amounts in millions) Value Amortization Value Amortization 

Amortized other  

 intangible assets:

Trademarks $ 2.8 $ (0.6) $ 2.7 $ (0.4)

Patents 33.6 (14.0) 32.3 (11.3)

Total   36.4 (14.6) 35.0 (11.7)

Unamortized other  

 intangible assets:

Trademarks 48.2 — 46.2 — 

Total   $84.6 $(14.6) $81.2 $(11.7)

The weighted-average amortization period is 35 years for trademarks 

and 16 years for patents. The weighted-average amortization period for 

trademarks and patents on a combined basis is 19 years.

The aggregate amortization expense for 2004 and 2003 was  

$2.5 million and $2.1 million. Total estimated annual amortization 

expense expected for each of the next five fiscal years, based on current 

levels of intangible assets, is $1.9 million.

Snap-on recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting prin-

ciple transition adjustment that increased net earnings in the first quar-

ter of 2002 by $2.8 million, on both a pretax and after-tax basis, from 

the recognition of negative goodwill as prescribed by SFAS No. 142.

NOTE 9: SNAP-ON CREDIT LLC JOINT VENTURE

SOC, a 50%-owned joint venture between Snap-on and CIT, provides a 

broad range of financial services to Snap-on’s U.S. dealer and customer 

network and to Snap-on’s industrial and other customers. Snap-on 

began consolidating SOC as of January 4, 2004, the beginning of 

Snap-on’s 2004 fiscal year, as a result of the adoption of FIN No. 46R. 

Snap-on previously accounted for SOC using the equity method. Snap-on 

and CIT have identical voting and participation rights and responsibili-

ties in SOC. Refer to Note 2 for additional information.

By establishing SOC, Snap-on effectively outsourced its domestic  

captive credit function to SOC. Snap-on receives royalty and manage-

ment fee income from SOC based on the volume of financings originated 

by SOC. Snap-on also shares ratably with CIT in any residual net profit 

or loss of the joint venture after operating expenses, including royalty 

and management fees, interest costs and credit loss provisions. Snap-on 

provides extended-term financing internationally through its wholly 

owned finance subsidiaries.

SOC sells substantially all of its originated contracts on a limited 

recourse basis to CIT, net of certain fees. SOC continues to service these 

contracts for an estimated market-rate servicing fee. In 2004, SOC  

originated contracts totaling $481.2 million, compared to $522.4 mil-

lion in 2003 and $506.3 million in 2002.

Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain SOC-originated contracts 

with recourse provisions against Snap-on (primarily for dealer van 

loans). At January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, $14.8 million and 

$14.1 million of loans, with terms ranging from six months to ten years, 

have a primary recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more 

than 90 days past due. The asset value of the collateral underlying these 

recourse loans would serve to mitigate Snap-on’s loss in the event of 

default. The estimated fair value of the guarantees for all loan origina-

tions with recourse as of January 1, 2005, was not material.

CIT and Snap-on have agreed to lend funds to support SOC’s working 

capital requirements on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum bor-

rowing limit not to exceed $24 million. As of January 1, 2005, SOC owed 

both Snap-on and CIT $0.5 million each pursuant to this agreement.

Snap-on’s exposure related to SOC as of January 1, 2005, was its  

$6.1 million investment and the $0.5 million working capital loan plus 

the recourse obligations on customer financings, both discussed  

above. CIT’s investment of $6.1 million as of January 1, 2005, is 

included in “Other long-term liabilities” on the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Prior to fiscal 2004, SOC was accounted for by Snap-on under the 

equity method, as such, the following summarized financial informa-

tion of SOC as of December 31, 2003, and for the year then ended  

is presented:

(Amounts in millions)  2003 

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4.2 

Receivables — net of allowances  10.7 

Servicing receivables  8.6 

Due from members  14.0 

Other assets  6.2 

Total assets  $43.7 

 

Payable to members  $13.2 

Accruals for contract receivables sold  12.8 

Other accrued liabilities  4.1 

Short-term borrowings  — 

Members’ equity  13.6 

Total liabilities and members’ equity  $43.7 

 

(Amounts in millions)  2003 

Revenues:

Gain on sale of contract receivables sold  $60.5 

Servicing fee income  10.5 

Other income  0.5 

Total revenues  71.5 

Expenses:

Royalty fees  23.4 

Salaries and benefits  16.9 

Management fees  11.7 

Other   11.1 

Total expenses  63.1 

Net income  $ 8.4 

NOTE 10: SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable to banks under bank lines of credit totaled $2.5 million 

and $4.9 million at the end of 2004 and 2003. At the end of 2004 and 

2003, Snap-on had commercial paper outstanding of $25.0 million. The 

company currently anticipates that it will continue to have positive cash 

flow and debt reduction for the foreseeable future and, as a result, com-

mercial paper borrowings are included in “Notes payable and current 

maturities of long-term debt” on the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets.

At January 1, 2005, Snap-on had a $400 million multi-currency 

revolving credit facility that terminates on July 27, 2009. This $400 

million facility replaced Snap-on’s $408 million of multi-currency revolv-

ing credit facilities. The $400 million multi-currency revolving credit 

facility’s financial covenant requires that Snap-on maintain a ratio of 

debt to the sum of total debt plus shareholders’ equity of not greater 

than 0.60 to 1.00. As of January 1, 2005, Snap-on was in compliance 

with all covenants of this revolving credit facility. At January 1, 2005, 

Snap-on also had $20 million of unused committed bank lines of credit 

of which $10 million expires on July 31, 2005, and $10 million expires 

on August 31, 2005. At January 1, 2005, Snap-on had approximately 

$395 million of unused available debt capacity under the terms of its 

revolving credit facility and committed bank lines of credit.

Average commercial paper and bank notes outstanding were  

$29.1 million in 2004 and $66.6 million in 2003. The weighted-average 

interest rate on these instruments was 2.12% in 2004 and 1.95% in 

2003. As of January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, commercial paper 

and bank notes outstanding had a weighted-average interest rate of 

2.37% and 2.88%.

In August 2001, Snap-on issued $200 million of unsecured notes 

pursuant to a $300 million shelf registration statement filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission in 1994. In October 1995, 

Snap-on issued $100 million of unsecured notes to the public under this 

shelf registration. The August 2001 notes require semiannual interest 

payments at the rate of 6.25% and mature in their entirety on August 

15, 2011. The October 1995 notes require semiannual interest pay-

ments at a rate of 6.625% and mature in their entirety on October 1, 

2005.

Snap-on’s long-term debt as of fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003  

consisted of the following:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Senior unsecured indebtedness $ 300.0 $300.0 

Other long-term debt 3.5 3.3 

    303.5 303.3 

Less: current maturities (100.3) (0.3)

Total long-term debt $ 203.2 $303.0 

The annual maturities of Snap-on’s long-term debt due in the next 

five years are $100.3 million in 2005 and less than $0.1 million in 

2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009.

NOTE 11: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Snap-on accounts for its hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, 

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as 

amended by SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149. These standards require 

that all derivative instruments be reported in the consolidated financial 

statements at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are to 

be recorded each period in earnings or on the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets in “Accumulated other comprehensive 

income (loss),” depending on the type of hedged transaction and 

whether the derivative is designated and effective as part of a hedged 

transaction. Gains or losses on derivative instruments reported in 

“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” must be reclassified 
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as earnings in the period in which earnings are affected by the underly-

ing hedged item and the ineffective portion of all hedges must be recog-

nized in earnings in the current period. 

Snap-on uses derivative instruments to manage well-defined interest 

rate and foreign currency exposures. Snap-on does not use derivative 

instruments for speculative or trading purposes. The criteria used to 

determine if hedge accounting treatment is appropriate are (i) the des-

ignation of the hedge to an underlying exposure, (ii) whether or not 

overall risk is being reduced, and (iii) if there is a correlation between 

the value of the derivative instrument and the underlying obligation. On 

the date a derivative contract is entered into, Snap-on designates the 

derivative as either a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge, a hedge of a 

net investment in a foreign operation, or a natural hedging instrument 

whose change in fair value is recognized as an economic hedge against 

changes in the values of the hedged item.

Foreign Currency Derivative Instruments: Snap-on has operations in a 

number of countries that have transactions outside their functional  

currencies and, as a result, is exposed to changes in foreign currency 

exchange rates. In addition, Snap-on hedges the anticipated repayment 

of intercompany loans to foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign 

currencies. Snap-on manages most of these exposures on a consoli-

dated basis, which allows for netting of certain exposures to take  

advantage of natural offsets. Forward exchange contracts are used to 

hedge the net exposures. Gains or losses on net foreign currency hedges 

are intended to offset losses or gains on the underlying net exposures in 

an effort to reduce the earnings volatility resulting from fluctuating  

foreign currency exchange rates.

At January 1, 2005, Snap-on had net outstanding foreign exchange 

forward contracts to sell $11.3 million comprised of buy contracts of 

$78.0 million in Swedish kronor, $19.3 million in Canadian dollars, 

$15.2 million in Australian dollars, $1.9 million in Taiwan dollars and 

$1.5 million in Swiss francs and sell contracts of $73.3 million in euros, 

$29.7 million in British pounds, $12.3 million in Singapore dollars,  

$3.2 million in Danish kronor, $2.9 million in Hungarian forints,  

$2.1 million in Norwegian kroner, $1.0 million in Japanese yen, $0.8 mil-

lion in Polish zlotys, $0.6 million in Mexican pesos, $0.6 million in New 

Zealand dollars and $0.7 million in other currencies. At January 3, 

2004, Snap-on had net outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts 

to sell $84.0 million comprised of buy contracts of $72.8 million in 

Swedish kronor, $3.2 million in Taiwan dollars and $0.6 million in other 

currencies and sell contracts of $72.8 million in euros, $43.3 million in 

British pounds, $11.8 million in Canadian dollars, $10.2 million in 

Japanese yen, $8.9 million in Singapore dollars, $5.7 million in Danish 

kronor, $4.3 million in Norwegian kroner, $2.3 million in Mexican pesos 

and $1.3 million in Australian dollars.

The majority of Snap-on’s forward exchange contracts are not  

designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133. The fair value changes of 

these contracts are reported in earnings as foreign exchange gain or 

loss, which is included in “Other income (expense) — net” on the 

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Forward exchange 

contracts that qualify for hedge accounting treatment are accounted for 

as cash flow hedges where the effective portion of the changes in fair 

value of the derivative is recorded in “Accumulated other comprehen-

sive income (loss).” When the hedged item is realized in income, the 

gain or loss included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income 

(loss)” is reclassified to income in the same financial statement caption 

as the hedged item. For all cash flow hedges qualifying for hedge 

accounting under SFAS No. 133, the net accumulated derivative  

gain at January 1, 2005, was $0.5 million. At January 1, 2005, the 

maximum maturity date of any cash flow hedge was approximately  

14 months. During the next 12 months, Snap-on expects to reclassify 

into earnings net gains from “Accumulated other comprehensive income 

(loss)” of approximately $0.4 million after tax at the time the underly-

ing hedged transactions are realized. The ineffective portion of changes 

in fair value of the cash flow hedges are reported in earnings as  

foreign exchange gain or loss, which is included in “Other income 

(expense) — net” and which were not material.

Non-Derivative Instruments Designated in Hedging Relationships: 

Snap-on uses non-U.S. dollar financing transactions as net investment 

hedges of long-term investments in the corresponding foreign currency. 

Hedges that meet the effectiveness requirements are accounted for 

under net investment hedging rules. The effective portion of the net 

investment hedge of a foreign operation is recorded in “Accumulated 

other comprehensive income (loss)” as a cumulative translation adjust-

ment. When applicable, the ineffective portion of the net investment 

hedge is recorded in earnings as foreign exchange gain or loss, which is 

included in “Other income (expense) — net” and which were not  

material. At January 1, 2005, net losses of $0.4 million arising from 

effective hedges of net investments have been reflected in the cumula-

tive translation adjustment account as a component of “Accumulated 

other comprehensive income (loss).”

Interest Rate Swap Agreements: Snap-on enters into interest rate swap 

agreements to manage interest costs and risks associated with changing 

interest rates. Interest rate swap agreements are accounted for as either 

cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. The differentials paid or received 

on interest rate swap agreements are recognized as adjustments to 

interest expense. For fair value hedges, the effective portion of the 

change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in “Long-term debt” on 

the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, while any ineffective 

portion is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense. For cash flow 

hedges, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative 

is recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),” while 

any ineffective portion is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense. 

The notional amount of interest rate swaps was $75 million at January 

1, 2005, and included $50 million of fair value hedges and $25 million 

of cash flow hedges. The notional amount of interest rate swaps was 

$75 million at both January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, and included 

$50 million of fair value hedges and $25 million of cash flow hedges. 
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In June 2003, Snap-on received proceeds of $5.1 million for the  

termination of a $25 million interest rate swap that was a fair value 

hedge for a portion of its $200 million, 6.25% long-term notes. The  

$5.1 million is being amortized to income using the effective interest 

rate method over the remaining life of the notes, which mature on 

August 15, 2011. At the same time, Snap-on entered into a new $25 

million interest rate swap to hedge that same portion of these notes.

For all cash flow hedges qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS 

No. 133, the net accumulated derivative loss at January 1, 2005, was 

$0.2 million, after tax, and is reflected in “Accumulated other compre-

hensive income (loss).” Changes in the fair value of derivative financial 

instruments qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, are 

reflected as derivative assets or liabilities with the corresponding  

gains or losses reflected in earnings in the period of change. An offset-

ting gain or loss is also reflected in earnings based upon the changes of 

the fair value of the debt instrument being hedged. For all fair value 

hedges qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, the net 

accumulated derivative loss at January 1, 2005, was $1.0 million. At 

January 1, 2005, the maximum maturity date of any cash flow hedge 

and fair value hedge was approximately three months and seven years, 

respectively. During the next 12 months, Snap-on expects to reclassify 

into earnings net losses from “Accumulated other comprehensive 

income (loss)” of approximately $0.2 million after tax at the time the 

underlying hedged transactions are realized. During the year ended 

January 1, 2005, cash flow hedge and fair value hedge ineffectiveness 

was not material.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires Snap-on to disclose the 

fair value of financial instruments for both on- and off-balance-sheet 

assets and liabilities for which it is practicable to estimate that value. 

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the 

fair value of financial instruments:

Installment Contracts: A discounted cash flow analysis was performed 

over the average life of a contract using a discount rate currently avail-

able to Snap-on adjusted for credit quality, cost and profit factors. As of 

January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, the fair value was approximately 

$117 million and $114 million, versus a book value of $101.9 million 

and $97.0 million.

Long-term Debt: The fair value of long-term debt, including current 

maturities, was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis  

based on quoted market rates for similar instruments. As of  

January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, the fair value was approxi-

mately $323 million and $330 million, versus a book value of  

$303.5 million and $303.3 million.

All Other Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts of all cash 

equivalents, interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts approx-

imate fair value based upon quoted market prices or discounted cash 

flows. The fair value of trade accounts receivables, accounts payable 

and other financial instruments approximates carrying value due to their 

short-term nature.

NOTE 12: INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes, including the pretax impact of cumulative 

effects of changes in accounting principles in 2002, consisted of the 

following:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

U.S.   $ 72.3 $ 62.2 $129.2 

Foreign  48.1 54.5 34.8 

Total earnings before income taxes $120.4 $116.7 $164.0 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Current:

Federal  $ (3.7) $10.2 $ (5.0)

Foreign  21.2 12.9 19.6 

State  (0.4) 1.0 2.6 

Total current 17.1 24.1 17.2 

 

Deferred:

Federal  24.4 8.1 38.3 

Foreign  (4.3) 3.4 (0.2)

State  1.5 2.4 2.7 

Total deferred 21.6 13.9 40.8 

Total income tax provision $38.7 $38.0 $58.0 

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to Snap-on’s 

effective tax rate, after cumulative effect of changes in accounting  

principles, is as follows: 

    2004 2003 2002 

Statutory federal income  

 tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase (decrease) in  

 tax rate resulting from:

State income taxes,  

 net of federal benefit 1.5 1.9 1.8 

Extraterritorial income  

 exclusion/foreign sales  

 corporation tax benefit (2.8) (2.3) (1.5)

Change in valuation allowance  

 for foreign losses 2.6 1.0 1.4 

Reversal of excess tax accrual (2.9) (2.5) — 

Foreign rate difference (1.8) (1.3) (0.8)

Other  0.5 0.8 (0.5)

Effective tax rate 32.1% 32.6% 35.4%
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Temporary differences that give rise to the net deferred tax benefit are 

as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Current deferred  

 income tax assets:

Inventories $ 34.2 $ 28.2 $ 29.6 

Accruals not currently  

 deductible 39.2 32.3 17.5 

Restructuring and other  

 non-recurring accruals 0.6 1.3 1.9 

Other  1.6 2.7 3.0 

Total current (included in  

 deferred income tax benefits  

 and other accrued liabilities) 75.6 64.5 52.0 

Long-term deferred income  

 tax assets (liabilities):

Employee benefits (2.3) 37.2 78.9 

Net operating losses 58.1 48.7 32.8 

Depreciation (36.7) (45.2) (40.9)

SOC securitization (41.9) (21.2) (15.0)

Other  (0.8) 0.1 0.2 

Valuation allowance (43.5) (37.8) (28.7)

Total long term (67.1) (18.2) 27.3 

Net deferred income tax asset $  8.5 $ 46.3 $ 79.3 

At January 1, 2005, Snap-on had tax net operating loss carryforwards 

totaling $267.4 million as follows:

(Amounts in millions) State U.S. Foreign Total 

Year of expiration:

2005-2009 $    — $ 3.8 $  2.4 $  6.2 

2010-2014 44.5 — 4.9 49.4 

2015-2021 44.9 — — 44.9 

2022-2024 12.9 37.8 — 50.7 

Indefinite — — 116.2 116.2 

Total net operating loss  

 carryforward $102.3 $41.6 $123.5 $267.4 

A valuation allowance totaling $43.5 million, $37.8 million and  

$28.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002 has been established for deferred 

income tax benefits related to certain subsidiary loss carryforwards that 

may not be realized. Approximately $4 million of the increase in the 

valuation allowance and the net operating losses for 2004 is attributable 

to the impact of foreign currency exchange. Realization of the net 

deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income 

prior to their expiration. Although realization is not assured, manage-

ment believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset 

will be realized. The amount of the net deferred tax asset considered 

realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of 

future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced.

The undistributed earnings of all non-U.S. subsidiaries totaled  

$241.2 million, $214.7 million and $180.0 million at the end of 2004, 

2003 and 2002. Snap-on has not provided any deferred taxes on these 

undistributed earnings as it considers the undistributed earnings to be 

permanently invested. On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs 

Creation Act (“the AJCA”) was signed into law. The AJCA includes a 

deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated back 

to the United States, as defined in the AJCA. The company may elect to 

apply this provision to qualifying earnings repatriations in 2005. The 

company has started an evaluation of the effects of the repatriation 

provision; however, the company does not expect to be able to complete 

this evaluation until after Congress or the Treasury Department provides 

additional clarifying language on key elements of the provision. The 

company expects to complete its evaluation of the effects of the  

repatriation provision within a reasonable period of time following the 

publication of the additional clarifying language. The range of possible 

amounts that the company is considering for repatriation under this 

provision is between zero and $200 million. The related potential range 

of income tax is between zero and $10 million.

NOTE 13: PENSION PLANS

Snap-on has several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans 

covering most U.S. employees and certain employees in foreign  

countries. Snap-on also has foreign contributory defined benefit pension 

plans covering certain foreign employees. Retirement benefits are gener-

ally provided based on employees’ years of service and average earnings 

or stated amounts for years of service. Normal retirement age is 65,  

with provisions for earlier retirement. Snap-on recognizes retirement 

plan expenses in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting 

for Pensions.”

Snap-on’s net pension expense (income) included the following  

components:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Service cost $ 19.2 $ 17.7 $  15.1 

Interest cost 42.0 41.6 39.9 

Return on assets:

Actual (gain) loss (54.5) (82.8) 48.9 

Deferred gain (loss) 4.4 38.2 (103.4)

Amortization of:

Actuarial (gain) loss 6.4 2.5 (0.8)

Prior service cost 1.5 1.8 2.0 

Net transition asset 0.1 (0.2) (1.3)

Curtailment loss (gain) — 8.2 (0.5)

Net pension expense (income) $ 19.1 $ 27.0 $  (0.1)
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The status of Snap-on’s pension plans as of fiscal year-end 2004 and 

2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $732.4 $ 624.4 

Service cost 19.2 17.7 

Interest cost 42.0 41.6 

Plan participants’ contributions 1.2 1.4 

Benefits paid (38.2) (38.2)

Curtailment loss — 2.4 

Plan amendments 1.9 0.3 

Actuarial loss 20.8 68.4 

Foreign currency impact 9.6 14.4 

Benefit obligation at end of year $788.9 $ 732.4 

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $610.3 $ 460.7 

Actual return on plan assets 54.5 82.8 

Plan participants’ contributions 1.2 1.4 

Employer contributions 68.3 95.2 

Benefits paid (37.2) (36.4)

Foreign currency impact 10.1 6.6 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $707.2 $ 610.3 

 

Unfunded status $ (81.7) $(122.1)

Unrecognized net assets at year end (0.8) (1.1)

Unrecognized net loss from experience 

 different than assumed 172.2 166.0 

Unrecognized prior service cost 9.1 8.7 

Net amount recognized $  98.8 $  51.5 

 

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated

 Balance Sheets consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $152.2 $  69.8 

Accrued benefit liability (67.3) (72.4)

Other intangibles 0.7 3.5 

Deferred income tax benefits 4.7 19.0 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 8.5 31.6 

Net amount recognized $ 98.8 $  51.5 

The accumulated benefit obligation for Snap-on’s pension plans  

was $725.0 million and $673.5 million at January 1, 2005, and  

January 3, 2004.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and 

fair value of plan assets for Snap-on’s pension plans in which the accu-

mulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets as of 

fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Projected benefit obligation $122.7 $203.6 

Accumulated benefit obligation 104.9 190.0 

Fair value of plan assets 40.0 120.6 

The amount included in Snap-on’s accumulated other comprehensive 

income (loss) arising from recognizing additional minimum pension 

liabilities are as follows:

(Amounts in millions)

Balance at December 28, 2002  $(60.9)

Decrease in minimum pension liability, net of tax  29.3 

Balance at January 3, 2004  (31.6)

Decrease in minimum pension liability, net of tax  23.1 

Balance at January 1, 2005  $ (8.5)

Snap-on had $7.5 million and $7.0 million of non-qualified pension 

assets included in “Pension assets” on the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets as of fiscal year-end 2004 and 2003.

The worldwide weighted-average assumptions used to determine 

Snap-on’s full-year pension costs are as follows:

    2004 2003 2002 

Discount rate 5.9% 6.5% 6.7%

Expected long-term return  

 on plan assets 8.3% 8.3% 8.2%

Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.3% 3.7%

The worldwide weighted-average assumptions used to determine 

Snap-on’s projected benefit obligation as of fiscal year-end 2004 and 

2003 are as follows:

    2004 2003 

Discount rate 5.6% 5.9%

Rate of compensation increase 3.1% 3.3%

Snap-on uses a December 31 measurement date for the majority of 

its plans. Snap-on expects to make a contribution to its pension plans 

in 2005 of $5.3 million.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future  

service, are expected to be paid as follows:

(Amounts in millions)

2005   $ 34.2 

2006   36.0 

2007   39.0 

2008   40.6 

2009   42.3 

2010–2014  252.9 

Snap-on’s domestic pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocation 

at December 31, 2004, and December 31, 2003, by asset category and 

fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

Asset Category Target 2004 2003 

Equity securities 50% 52% 58%

Debt securities and cash 35% 42% 42%

Real estate and other real assets 10% 2% —

Other   5% 4% —

Total    100% 100% 100%

 

Fair value of plan assets (in millions)  $639.5 $559.5 

Snap-on’s domestic pension plans have a long-term investment  

horizon and a total return strategy that emphasizes a capital growth 

objective. The long-term investment performance objective for Snap-on’s 

domestic plan assets is to achieve net of expense returns that meet or 

exceed the 8.5% domestic long-term rate-of-return-on-assets assump-

tion used for reporting purposes. 

The basis for determining the overall expected long-term rate-of-

return-on-assets assumption applies a nominal returns forecasting 

method. For each asset class, future returns are estimated by identifying 

the premium of riskier asset classes over lower risk alternatives. The 

methodology constructs expected returns using a “building block” 

approach to the individual components of total return. These forecasts 

are stated in both nominal and real (after inflation) terms. This process 

first considers the long-term historical return premium based on the 

longest set of data available for each asset class. These premiums are 

then adjusted based on current relative valuation levels and macro-

economic conditions.

For risk and correlation assumptions, the actual experience for each 

asset class is reviewed for the longest time period available. Expected 

relationships for a 10 to 20 year time horizon are determined based 

upon historical results, with adjustments made for material changes. 

For example, expected correlations for international equities relative to 

U.S. equities are higher than historical averages due to the integration 

of the global economy.

Investments are broadly diversified to attempt to minimize the risk of 

large losses. Since asset allocation is a key determinant of expected 

investment returns, assets are periodically rebalanced to the targeted 

allocation to correct significant deviations from the asset allocation 

policy that are caused by market fluctuations and cash flows.

Snap-on has adopted a strategic asset allocation policy that is 

intended to offer the highest probability of achieving the long-term 

investment return goal with the lowest level of risk. Asset/liability stud-

ies are conducted periodically to determine if any revisions to the stra-

tegic asset allocation policy are indicated. 

Snap-on’s foreign pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocation 

by asset category and fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2004, 

are as follows:

Asset Category Target 2004 

Equity securities 59% 60%

Debt securities and cash 41% 39%

Real estate and other real assets — 0%

Other   — 1%

Total    100% 100%

Fair value of plan assets (in millions)  $67.7 

Snap-on’s primary investment objective for its foreign pension plan 

assets is to meet the projected obligations to the beneficiaries over a long 

period of time, and to do so in a manner that is consistent with the com-

pany’s risk tolerance. The foreign asset allocation policies consider the 

company’s financial strength and long-term asset class risk/return expec-

tations since the obligations are long term in nature. The assets are well 

diversified and are managed locally by professional investment firms.

The expected long-term rate of return on foreign plan assets reflects 

management’s expectations of long-term average rates of return on 

funds invested to provide benefits included in the projected benefit 

obligations. The expected return is based on the outlook for inflation, 

fixed income returns and equity returns, while also considering histori-

cal returns, asset allocation and investment strategy.

Snap-on has several 401(k) plans covering certain U.S. employees. 

Snap-on’s employer match to the 401(k) plans is made in Snap-on com-

mon stock, which is funded through the Grantor Stock Trust or with 

cash contributions. Employees have the opportunity to diversify the 

employer match made in Snap-on common stock once they have three 

years of service with Snap-on. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, Snap-on 

recognized $2.3 million, $12.4 million and $2.0 million of expense 

related to its 401(k) plans. Included in Snap-on’s 2003 401(k) plan 

expense is $10.2 million related to the closure of the two U.S. hand-tool 

facilities, which is disclosed in Note 4 above.

NOTE 14: RETIREE HEALTH CARE

Snap-on provides certain health care benefits for most retired U.S. 

employees. The majority of Snap-on’s U.S. employees become eligible 

for those benefits if they reach early retirement age while working for 

Snap-on; however, the age and service requirements for eligibility under 

the plans have been increased for certain employees hired on and after 

specified dates since 1992. Generally, most plans pay stated percent-
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ages of covered expenses after a deductible is met. There are several 

plan designs, with more recent retirees being covered under a compre-

hensive major medical plan. In determining benefits, the plans take into 

consideration payments by Medicare and other insurance coverage.

For employees retiring under the comprehensive major medical plans, 

retiree contributions are required, and these plans contain provisions 

allowing for benefit and coverage changes. The plans require retirees to 

contribute either the full cost of the coverage or amounts estimated to 

exceed a capped per-retiree annual cost commitment by Snap-on. Most 

employees hired since 1994 are required to pay the full cost. Snap-on 

does not fund the retiree health care plans.

Snap-on recognizes postretirement health care expense in accordance 

with SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits 

Other than Pensions.”

Snap-on’s net postretirement health care benefits expense included 

the following components:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Service cost $ 0.7 $  0.9 $  1.1 

Interest cost 4.8 6.2 6.0 

Curtailment gain — (6.2) (0.2)

Amortization of  

 unrecognized net gain (1.0) — (0.6)

Net postretirement health care  

 benefits expense $ 4.5 $  0.9 $  6.3 

The status of Snap-on’s U.S. postretirement health care plans is as 

follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Change in accumulated benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  93.7 $ 95.3 

Service cost 0.7 0.9 

Interest cost 4.8 6.2 

Plan participants’ contributions 3.6 3.1 

Curtailment gain — (6.2)

Benefits paid (8.5) (8.3)

Actuarial (gain) loss (9.8) 2.7 

Benefit obligation at end of year $  84.5 $ 93.7 

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $     — $    — 

Plan participants’ contributions 3.6 3.1 

Employer contributions 4.9 5.2 

Benefits paid (8.5) (8.3)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $     — $    — 

 

Unfunded status $(84.5) $(93.7)

Unrecognized actuarial gain (9.5) (0.7)

Net amount recognized $(94.0) $(94.4)

 

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated 

 Balance Sheets consist of:

Accrued benefit liability $ (5.0) $ (5.1)

Retiree health care benefits (89.0) (89.3)

Net amount recognized $(94.0) $(94.4)

The weighted-average discount rates used to determine Snap-on’s 

postretirement health care expense are as follows:

    2004 2003 2002 

Discount rate 6.0% 6.6% 6.75%

The weighted-average discount rates used to determine Snap-on’s 

accumulated benefit obligation are as follows:

    2004 2003 

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0%

The actuarial calculation assumes a health care cost trend rate of 

9.0% in 2004, decreasing gradually to 6.0% in 2009 and thereafter. As 

of January 1, 2005, a one-percentage-point increase in the health care 

cost trend rate for future years would increase the accumulated postre-

tirement benefit obligation by $1.1 million and the aggregate of the 

service cost and interest cost components by $0.1 million. Conversely, 

a one-percentage-point decrease in the health care cost trend rate for 

future years would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation by $1.0 million and the aggregate of the service cost and 

interest cost components by $0.1 million.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future ser-

vice, are expected to be paid as follows:

(Amounts in millions)

2005   $ 5.0 

2006   5.1 

2007   5.3 

2008   5.4 

2009   5.7 

2010–2014  29.8 

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement 

and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act 

includes a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D as well as a 

federal subsidy beginning in 2006 to sponsors of retiree health care 

plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent, as 

defined in the Act, to Medicare Part D. In accordance with FASB Staff 

Position (“FSP”) Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) 106-1, 
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“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare 

Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” the 

company elected to defer the recognition of the effects of this Act on the 

consolidated financial statements until authoritative guidance on the 

federal subsidy was issued by the FASB. The final FASB guidance, FSP 

FAS 106-2, was issued May 19, 2004, and the company adopted the 

guidance prospectively in the third quarter of 2004. Based on the adop-

tion of this guidance the company believes its retiree health care plans 

are at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and eligible for the 

federal subsidy. The cash flow the company expects to receive from the 

subsidy, when it becomes effective in 2006, is estimated to be approxi-

mately $0.1 million annually. Treating the provision of the Act as an 

actuarial experience gain as required by FSP FAS 106-2 resulted in a 

decrease in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of 

approximately $1.2 million.

NOTE 15: STOCK OPTIONS AND PURCHASE PLANS

Snap-on has various stock award and purchase plans for directors, 

officers and key employees.

2001 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan: On April 27, 2001, Snap-on’s 

shareholders approved the 2001 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan 

(“2001 Plan”). This plan reserved five million shares of common stock 

for issuance, of which 1,741,681 shares were available for future grants 

at January 1, 2005. There are no shares available for future grants 

under the predecessor plan. Stock options outstanding under the 2001 

Plan and the predecessor plan have expiration dates ranging from 2005 

to 2014 and vesting periods ranging from immediate to three years. The 

plans provide that options be granted at exercise prices equal to market 

value on the date the option is granted. Stock option activity under the 

2001 Plan and predecessor plans was as follows:

    2004 2003 2002 

    Options Exercise Price*  Options Exercise Price*  Options Exercise Price* 

Outstanding at beginning of year 5,642,219 $30.23 5,399,594 $30.70 5,189,146 $29.83 

Granted 898,500 31.82 694,900 25.24 863,809 31.90 

Exercised (569,488) 26.65 (191,857) 22.60 (478,285) 22.80 

Canceled (70,882) 32.68 (260,418) 32.30 (175,076) 32.96 

Outstanding at end of year 5,900,349 $30.78 5,642,219 $30.23 5,399,594 $30.70 

Exercisable at end of year 4,943,999 $30.91 4,583,646xx $30.83x 4,060,271 $30.66

*Weighted-average 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of January 1, 2005:

    2004 Options Outstanding 2004 Options Exercisable

      Remaining  
     Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise  
Range of Exercise Prices  Outstanding Life (Years)* Price* Exercisable Price*

$19 to $25  10,125 0.37 $23.24 10,125 $23.24

$25 to $31  2,854,713 6.53 27.17 2,613,263 27.36

$31 to $38  2,602,826 6.64 33.25 1,887,926 33.79

$38 to $46  432,685 3.32 39.99 432,685 39.99

Totals   5,900,349 6.33 $30.78 4,943,999 $30.91

*Weighted-average 

Snap-on grants shares of restricted stock to certain executive officers 

and other key employees under the 2001 Plan. Vesting of the shares of 

restricted stock will be dependent upon performance relative to pre-

defined goals for revenue growth and return on net assets employed 

before interest and taxes for fiscal years 2004 through 2005. Based on 

Snap-on’s performance relative to these goals, the recipient can earn up 

to 100% of the restricted stock award. For performance achieved above 

a certain level, the recipient will earn performance units in addition to 

the restricted stock, not to exceed 50% of the number of shares of 

restricted stock initially awarded. In 2004, Snap-on granted 225,700 

shares of restricted stock, of which 223,100 are outstanding as of 

January 1, 2005. Performance units related to the 2004 award grant 

represent the right to receive in cash $33.45, which was the fair market 

value of a share of Snap-on’s common stock on April 5, 2004. Based on 

the grant performance criteria, Snap-on recorded $1.1 million of com-

pensation expense in 2004 for the 2004 award grant. In 2003, Snap-on 

granted 423,300 shares of restricted stock, of which 408,800 are out-

standing as of January 1, 2005. Performance units related to the 2003 

award grant represent the right to receive in cash $24.49, which was 

the fair market value of a share of Snap-on’s common stock on March 

14, 2003. Based on the grant performance criteria, Snap-on was not 

required to recognize any compensation expense in 2004 or 2003 for 

the 2003 award grant.
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As of January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, Snap-on also had 5,600 

restricted stock grants outstanding under the 2001 Plan whose vesting 

is not dependent on performance. Compensation expense is being rec-

ognized on a straight-line basis over the respective service period. 

Snap-on recognized compensation expense of $0.1 million in 2004 and 

$1.0 million in each of 2003 and 2002 related to non-performance 

restricted shares.

As of January 1, 2005, Snap-on had 632,825 stock appreciation 

rights outstanding that were granted to certain key non-U.S. employees 

with an average grant price of $30.31 per unit. These performance units 

expire ten years after date of grant and have vesting periods that range 

from two to three years. The performance units provide for the cash 

payment of the excess of the fair market value of Snap-on’s common 

stock price on the date of exercise over the grant price, and Snap-on 

accrues compensation expense based upon the current market price for 

its common stock and the number of performance units outstanding. 

The performance share units have no effect on dilutive shares or shares 

outstanding as any appreciation of Snap-on’s common stock value over 

the grant price is paid in cash and not in common stock.

Directors’ Fee Plan: Under the Directors’ Fee Plan, non-employee  

directors receive a mandatory minimum of 50% and an elective maxi-

mum of up to 100% of their fees and retainer in shares of Snap-on’s 

common stock. Directors may elect to defer receipt of all or part of these 

shares. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, issuances under the Directors’ Fee 

Plan totaled 5,776 shares, 4,236 shares and 4,750 shares. Additionally, 

receipt of 10,668 shares, 11,130 shares and 11,865 shares was 

deferred in 2004, 2003 and 2002. At January 1, 2005, shares reserved 

for issuance to directors under this plan totaled 163,187 shares.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: Employees of Snap-on are eligible to 

participate in an employee stock purchase plan. The employee purchase 

price of the common stock is the lesser of the mean of the high and low 

price of the stock on the beginning date (May 15) or ending date (May 

14) of each plan year. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, issuances under the 

employee stock ownership plan totaled 36,512 shares, 36,428 shares 

and 53,142 shares. At January 1, 2005, shares reserved for issuance to 

employees under this plan totaled 417,774 and Snap-on held contribu-

tions of approximately $0.7 million for the purchase of common stock 

by employees.

Dealer Stock Purchase Plan: Franchised dealers are eligible to participate 

in a dealer stock purchase plan. The dealer purchase price of the com-

mon stock is the lesser of the mean of the high and low price of the 

stock on the beginning date (May 15) or ending date (May 14) of each 

plan year. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, issuances under the dealer stock 

purchase plan totaled 49,290 shares, 49,923 shares and 76,381 

shares. At January 1, 2005, shares reserved for issuance to franchised 

dealers under this plan totaled 115,330 and Snap-on held dealer con-

tributions of approximately $1.0 million for the purchase of common 

stock. Compensation expense for plan participants in 2004, 2003 and 

2002 was not material.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan: Under this plan,  

participating shareholders may invest the cash dividends from all or a 

portion of their common stock to buy additional shares. The program 

also permits new investors and current shareholders to make additional 

contributions. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, issuances under the dividend 

reinvestment and stock purchase plan totaled 42,881 shares, 54,504 

shares and 45,649 shares. At January 1, 2005, shares available for 

purchase under this plan totaled 1,665,252 shares.

SFAS No. 148 Disclosure: Snap-on accounts for its stock-based employee 

compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles 

of APB Opinion No. 25. In accordance with the provisions of APB 

Opinion No. 25, no compensation expense was recorded for stock 

options as all options granted had an exercise price equal to the market 

value of the underlying common stock on the measurement date. For 

restricted stock and stock appreciation rights awards, Snap-on recorded 

compensation expense in the respective periods as appropriate.

The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings 

per share as if Snap-on had applied the fair value recognition provisions 

of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation using the 

Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 

Net earnings, as reported $81.7 $78.7 $106.0

Add: Stock-based employee  

 compensation expense (income)  

 included in reported  

 net income, net of  

 related tax effects 1.5 1.5 (0.4)

Deduct: Total stock-based  

 employee compensation   

 expense determined  

 under fair value based   

 method for all awards,  

 net of related tax effects (5.7) (5.6) (7.3)

Pro forma net earnings $77.5 $74.6 $ 98.3

 

Net earnings per share — basic:

As reported $1.41 $1.35 $1.82

Pro forma 1.34 1.28 1.69

Net earnings per share — diluted:

As reported $1.40 $1.35 $1.81

Pro forma 1.33 1.28 1.68

Weighted-average assumptions  

 under Black-Scholes:

Risk-free interest rate 4.0% 4.4% 3.8%

Dividend yield 3.1% 3.4% 2.8%

Expected stock price volatility 31.1% 31.6% 33.1%

Expected option life (in years) 6.9 6.9 6.1
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For disclosure purposes only under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of 

each option grant was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-

Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-average fair value of 

options granted was $8.69 in 2004, $6.91 in 2003 and $9.16 in 2002, 

as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

NOTE 16: CAPITAL STOCK

Snap-on has undertaken repurchases of Snap-on common stock from 

time to time to offset dilution created by shares issued for employee and 

dealer stock purchase plans, stock options, and other corporate pur-

poses, as well as to repurchase shares when market conditions are 

favorable. Snap-on repurchased 1,200,000 shares in 2004, following 

the repurchase of 450,000 shares in 2003 and 405,000 shares in 2002. 

As of the end of 2004, Snap-on has remaining availability to repurchase 

up to an additional $127.9 million in common stock pursuant to the 

Board of Directors’ authorizations. The purchase of Snap-on common 

stock is at the company’s discretion, subject to prevailing financial and 

market conditions. In 2004, Snap-on’s average common stock repur-

chase price was approximately $31.78 per share.

In August 1997, the Board of Directors declared a dividend distribu-

tion of one preferred stock purchase right for each share of Snap-on’s 

outstanding common stock. The rights are exercisable only if a person 

or group acquires 15% or more of Snap-on’s common stock (“Acquiring 

Person”) or publicly announces a tender offer to become an Acquiring 

Person. Each right may then be exercised to purchase one one-hundred-

and-fiftieth of a share of Series A Junior Preferred Stock for $190, but if 

a person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, then each right entitles 

the holder (other than an Acquiring Person) to acquire common stock of 

Snap-on having a market value equivalent to two times the current 

purchase price. If Snap-on is acquired in a merger or other business 

combination not approved by the Board of Directors, then each holder 

of a right will be entitled to purchase common stock of the surviving 

company having a market value equivalent to two times the current 

purchase price. The effect of the rights is to cause ownership dilution to 

a person or group attempting to acquire Snap-on without approval of 

Snap-on’s Board of Directors. The rights expire on November 3, 2007, 

and may be redeemed by Snap-on at a price of $0.01 per right under 

certain circumstances. 

Snap-on created a Grantor Stock Trust (“GST”) in 1998 that was 

subsequently amended. In conjunction with the formation of the GST, 

Snap-on sold 7.1 million shares of treasury stock to the GST. The sale 

of these shares had no net impact on shareholders’ equity or on 

Snap-on’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The GST is a funding 

mechanism for certain benefit programs and compensation arrange-

ments, including the 2001 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan and 

employee and dealer stock purchase plans. The Northern Trust 

Company, as trustee of the GST, votes the common stock held by the 

GST based on the terms set forth in the GST Agreement as amended. 

The GST is recorded as “Grantor stock trust at fair market value” on the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Shares owned by the GST 

are accounted for as a reduction to shareholders’ equity until used in 

connection with employee benefits. Each period, the shares owned by 

the GST are valued at the closing market price, with corresponding 

changes in the GST balance reflected in additional paid-in capital. At 

January 1, 2005, the GST held 4,278,561 shares of common stock.

NOTE 17: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Snap-on leases facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable 

operating leases that extend for varying amounts of time. Snap-on’s 

future minimum lease commitments under these leases, net of sub-

leases, were as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 

2005   $31.6 

2006   21.1 

2007   15.5 

2008   12.2 

2009   9.2 

2010 and thereafter  51.7 

Rent expense, net of sub-lease rental income, for worldwide facilities 

and office equipment was $35.6 million, $33.0 million and $32.3 mil-

lion in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Snap-on has $6.3 million of remaining purchase commitments with 

one of its suppliers.

CIT and Snap-on have agreed to lend funds to support SOC’s working 

capital requirements on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum bor-

rowing limit not to exceed $24 million. As of January 1, 2005, SOC 

owed both Snap-on and CIT $0.5 million each pursuant to this agree-

ment. Refer to Note 9 for additional information.

Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain SOC-originated contracts 

with recourse provisions against Snap-on (primarily for dealer van 

loans). At January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, $14.8 million and 

$14.1 million of loans, with terms ranging from six months to ten years, 

have a primary recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more 

than 90 days past due. The asset value of the collateral underlying these 

recourse loans would serve to mitigate Snap-on’s loss in the event of 

default. The estimated fair value of the guarantees for all loan origina-

tions with recourse as of January 1, 2005, was not material. Refer to 

Note 9 for additional information.
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Snap-on provides product warranties for specific product lines and 

accrues for estimated future warranty cost in the period in which the 

sale is recorded. Snap-on calculates its accrual requirements based on 

historic warranty loss experience that is periodically adjusted for recent 

actual experience. The following summarizes Snap-on’s product war-

ranty accrual activity for fiscal-year 2004 and 2003:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 

Warranty accrual:

Beginning of year $ 14.1 $ 13.2 

Additions 11.5 11.6 

Usage  (9.9) (10.7)

End of year $ 15.7 $ 14.1 

Snap-on has government contracts with federal departments and 

agencies, two of which were under audit by the U.S. General Services 

Administration (“GSA”). The two contracts involve sales from March 

1996 through February 2001, and sales since February 2001. The pri-

mary focus of these audits concerns the interpretation and application 

of the price reduction provisions of these contracts. On July 23, 2004, 

Snap-on reached an agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice to 

resolve the government audit relating to two contracts with the GSA. 

Snap-on agreed to settle the claims over the interpretation and applica-

tion of the price reduction and billing provisions of these two contracts 

for sales from March 1996 through the July 23, 2004, settlement date 

for $10.0 million. Snap-on incurred a pretax charge of $3.6 million, or 

$0.04 per diluted share, in the second quarter of 2004 for costs not 

previously accrued. Snap-on remitted the $10.0 million cash settlement 

to the U.S. Department of Justice on August 5, 2004. On February 8, 

2005, the GSA requested information from Snap-on to evaluate possible 

administrative action.

Snap-on held more than 2,600 active or pending patents as of year-

end 2004, and Snap-on vigorously prosecutes its claims and defends its 

patents in the ordinary course of business. In February 1998, Snap-on 

filed a complaint alleging infringement of certain of Snap-on’s patents 

by Hunter Engineering Company (“Hunter”). Hunter counterclaimed, 

alleging infringement of certain of its patents and one trademark. In 

April 2002, the court set a trial date of October 14, 2002, for various 

patents. In May 2002, Hunter alleged infringement of two additional 

patents for which a March 2003 trial date was later set. That trial date 

was vacated when the case was consolidated with the above litigation 

in October 2002. 

The October 14, 2002, trial date was later postponed by the court to 

October 30, 2002. On October 22, 2002, a settlement was reached 

between Snap-on and Hunter for all of the above-mentioned matters, 

and in the fourth quarter of 2002, a final, comprehensive agreement 

was reached in Snap-on’s favor for $10.8 million, net of related legal 

expenses incurred in the year. 

In 1996, Snap-on filed a complaint against SPX Corporation (“SPX”) 

alleging infringement of Snap-on’s patents and asserting claims relating 

to SPX’s hiring of the former president of Sun Electric, a subsidiary of 

Snap-on acquired in 1992. SPX filed a counterclaim alleging infringe-

ment of certain SPX patents. These patents, which related to engine 

analyzer products first introduced in the 1980s, have expired. As part of 

a binding arbitration process in 2001, the arbitrator ruled in favor of  

SPX and Snap-on was ordered to pay $44 million in damages to SPX. 

This obligation was paid in January 2002, and was recorded in operating 

expenses in 2001.

Snap-on is also involved in various legal matters, including those 

where claimants have asserted class representation on behalf of fran-

chised dealers, that are being defended and handled in the ordinary 

course of business. Although it is not possible to predict the outcome of 

these other legal matters, management believes that the results will not 

have a material adverse effect on Snap-on’s consolidated financial 

position or results of operations.

NOTE 18: SEGMENTS

Snap-on’s business segments are based on the organization structure 

used by management for making operating and investment decisions 

and for assessing performance. Snap-on’s reportable business segments 

include: (i) the Snap-on Dealer Group; (ii) the Commercial and Industrial 

Group; (iii) the Diagnostics and Information Group; and (iv) Financial 

Services. The Snap-on Dealer Group consists of Snap-on’s business 

operations serving the worldwide franchised dealer van channel. The 

Commercial and Industrial Group consists of the business operations 

providing tools and equipment products and equipment repair services 

to a broad range of industrial and commercial customers worldwide 

through direct, distributor and other non-franchised distribution chan-

nels. The Diagnostics and Information Group consists of the business 

operations providing diagnostics equipment, vehicle service informa-

tion, business management systems and other solutions for vehicle 

service to customers in the worldwide vehicle service and repair mar-

ketplace. Financial Services is a new business segment, beginning in 

fiscal 2004, consisting of the business operations of SOC, a consolidated 

50%-owned joint venture between Snap-on and CIT, and Snap-on’s 

wholly owned finance subsidiaries in those international markets where 

Snap-on has dealer operations. Prior-year segment disclosures have  

not been restated to include the Financial Services segment due to  

the prospective adoption of FIN No. 46R. See Notes 2 and 9 for further 

discussion of SOC and the company’s adoption of FIN No. 46R.

During the third quarter of 2004, Snap-on realigned certain of its 

business units within its reportable business segments. The primary 

realignments included Snap-on’s Equipment Solutions (facilitation) 

business moving from the Commercial and Industrial Group to the 

Diagnostics and Information Group, and Snap-on’s EquiServ (equip-

ment services) business moving from the Diagnostics and Information  

Group to the Commercial and Industrial Group. Prior-year financial data 

by segment has been restated to reflect these reportable business  

segment realignments.
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Snap-on evaluates the performance of its operating segments based 

on segment revenues and operating earnings. Segment revenues are 

defined as total segment revenues, including both external customer 

revenue and intersegment revenue. Segment operating earnings are 

defined as revenues less cost of goods sold and operating expenses. 

Snap-on accounts for intersegment sales and transfers based primarily 

on standard costs with reasonable mark-ups established between the 

segments. Snap-on allocates shared services expenses to those seg-

ments that utilize the services based on a percentage of either cost of 

goods sold or segment revenues, as appropriate. 

Neither Snap-on nor any of its segments, except Financial Services, 

depend on any single customer, small group of customers or government 

for more than 10% of its revenues. As a result of SOC’s relationship with CIT, 

Snap-on’s Financial Services business segment depends on CIT for more 

than 10% of its revenues. Refer to Note 9 for additional information.

Financial data by segment is as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

External revenue:

Snap-on Dealer Group $1,052.9 $1,044.1 $1,012.9 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 987.2 916.5 857.6 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 289.0 272.6 238.6 

Financial Services 78.1 — — 

Total external revenue $2,407.2 $2,233.2 $2,109.1 

Intersegment revenue:

Snap-on Dealer Group $   26.7 $   24.6 $   29.1 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 129.7 124.9 116.2 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 151.6 123.8 155.7 

Financial Services — — — 

Total intersegment revenue $  308.0 $  273.3 $  301.0 

 

Total revenue:

Snap-on Dealer Group $1,079.6 $1,068.7 $1,042.0 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 1,116.9 1,041.4 973.8 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 440.6 396.4 394.3 

Financial Services 78.1 — — 

Total segment revenue 2,715.2 2,506.5 2,410.1 

Intersegment eliminations (308.0) (273.3) (301.0)

Total consolidated revenue $2,407.2 $2,233.2 $2,109.1 

The following is a reconciliation of Snap-on’s segment operating earn-

ings to earnings before income taxes:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Operating earnings:

Snap-on Dealer Group $   63.2 $   71.4 $   90.4 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 0.8 15.3 43.9 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 44.2 19.6 26.3 

Financial Services 34.1 — — 

Segment operating earnings 142.3 106.3 160.6 

Net finance income — 43.8 37.7 

Operating earnings 142.3 150.1 198.3 

Interest expense (23.0) (24.4) (28.7)

Other income (expense) — net 1.1 (9.0) (8.4)

Earnings before income taxes $  120.4 $  116.7 $  161.2 

Total assets:

Snap-on Dealer Group $  833.1 $  786.3 $  766.4 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 1,154.5 1,060.7 971.4 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 205.0 224.5 229.9 

Financial Services 195.2 — — 

Total from reportable segments 2,387.8 2,071.5 1,967.7 

Financial Services — 103.9 82.5 

Elimination of  

 intersegment receivables (97.6) (36.9) (56.1)

Total assets $2,290.2 $2,138.5 $1,994.1 

Capital expenditures:

Snap-on Dealer Group $   16.9 $   10.1 $   15.0 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 17.4 13.3 24.3 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 3.8 6.0 6.5 

Financial Services 0.6 — — 

Total from reportable segments 38.7 29.4 45.8 

Financial Services — — — 

Total capital expenditures $   38.7 $   29.4 $   45.8 

Depreciation and amortization:

Snap-on Dealer Group $   23.3 $   27.4 $   24.3 

Commercial and  

 Industrial Group 28.3 24.1 22.8 

Diagnostics and  

 Information Group 8.0 8.8 4.6 

Financial Services 1.4 — — 

Total from reportable segments 61.0 60.3 51.7 

Financial Services — — — 

Total depreciation and amortization $   61.0 $   60.3 $   51.7 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Geographic Regions: Geographic data is as follows:

(Amounts in millions)  2004 2003 2002

Total revenue:* 

United States   $1,383.1  $1,339.0   $1,358.7 

Europe       738.7       659.3       547.0 

All other       285.4       234.9       203.4 

Total revenue  $2,407.2  $2,233.2  $2,109.1 

Long-lived assets:** 

United States   $  309.4   $  328.1   $  351.9 

Sweden       181.9       172.7       143.3 

Luxembourg       158.7       146.1       119.0 

All other       174.8      168.8       148.1 

Total long-lived assets   $  824.8   $  815.7   $  762.3 

* Revenue is attributed to countries based on the origin of the sale. 

** Long-lived assets consist of Property and equipment — net plus Goodwill plus Other 
intangibles — net. 

Products and Services: Snap-on derives net sales from a broad line of 

products and complementary services that are grouped into two catego-

ries: tools and equipment. The tools category is comprised of Snap-on’s 

hand tools, power tools, tool storage units, saws, and cutting and prun-

ing tools product offerings. The equipment category is comprised of 

vehicle service diagnostics equipment, vehicle service equipment, vehi-

cle service information, business management systems and equipment 

repair service product offerings. Snap-on also derives revenue from 

financing its products through SOC and through its wholly owned finance 

subsidiaries. Snap-on utilizes various financing programs to facilitate 

the sales of its products. Refer to Notes 2 and 9 for additional informa-

tion. Further product line information is not presented, as it is not prac-

ticable to do so. The following table shows the consolidated net sales of 

these product groups in the last three years:

(Amounts in millions) 2004 2003 2002 

Net sales:

Tools  $1,358.9 $1,368.9 $1,281.7 

Equipment 970.2 864.3 827.4 

Total net sales 2,329.1 2,233.2 2,109.1 

Financial services revenue 78.1 — —

Total revenue $2,407.2 $2,233.2 $2,109.1
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     First Second Third Fourth  
(Amounts in millions, except per share data)  Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total 

2004

Net sales  $ 595.1 $ 591.3 $ 550.9 $ 591.8 $  2,329.1

Financial services revenue  21.2 20.8 17.9 18.2 78.1 

Total revenue  616.3 612.1 568.8 610.0 2,407.2 

Gross profit  249.3 255.9 239.4 264.7 1,009.3 

Net earnings  12.7 22.2 22.8 24.0 81.7 

Earnings per share — basic  0.22 0.38 0.39 0.42 1.41 

Earnings per share — diluted  0.22 0.38 0.39 0.42 1.40 

Cash dividends paid per share  $   0.25 $  0.25 $  0.25 $  0.25 $     1.00 

 

2003

Net sales  $543.1 $565.2 $525.6 $599.3 $2,233.2 

Gross profit  245.4 246.1 221.8 251.4 964.7 

Net earnings  21.4 22.3 17.7 17.3 78.7 

Earnings per share — basic  0.37 0.38 0.30 0.30 1.35 

Earnings per share — diluted  0.37 0.38 0.30 0.30 1.35 

Cash dividends paid per share  $  0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $   1.00 

Beginning in 2004, in conjunction with the consolidation of SOC, financial services revenue consists of SOC’s sales of originated contracts and service fee income, as well as installment 
contract revenue and dealer loan receivable revenue derived from SOC and Snap-on’s wholly owned international finance operations. As Snap-on consolidated SOC on a prospective basis, 
previously issued financial statements have not been restated to reflect the consolidation of SOC. Refer to Notes 2 and 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the 
consolidation of SOC.

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining  

adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended). Under the supervision and with the participation 

of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control 

over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth by the Committee 

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal 

Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our evaluation under this 

framework, management has concluded that, as of January 1, 2005, 

our internal control over financial reporting was effective.  

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control 

over financial reporting as of January 1, 2005, has been audited by 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting 

firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.  

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer, does not expect that our internal control over financial 

reporting will prevent all error or fraud. Because of inherent limitations, 

a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only 

reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements.  

Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal con-

trol over financial reporting may vary over time.

JACK D. MICHAELS MARTIN M. ELLEN

Chairman, President and Senior Vice President – Finance

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

February 24, 2005

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Snap-on Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets  

of Snap-on Incorporated and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of  

January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated 

statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, 

and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 1, 

2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-

cial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-

able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-

rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 

and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Snap-on Incorporated 

and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the 

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three 

years in the period ended January 1, 2005, in conformity with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the  

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effec-

tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 

January 1, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control 

— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 

February 24, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s 

assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 

financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the 

Company adopted FASB Interpretation 46R, Consolidation of Variable 

Interest Entities, and, accordingly, began consolidating Snap-on Credit 

LLC as of January 4, 2004, and, as discussed in Note 18 to the con-

solidated financial statements, the Company changed its reportable 

segments in 2004.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, WI

February 24, 2005

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm



612004 ANNUAL REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Snap-on Incorporated

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompa-

nying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, 

that Snap-on Incorporated and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained 

effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 1, 2005, 

based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintain-

ing effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assess-

ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 

financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-

able assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 

reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 

evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design 

and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such 

other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 

designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal  

executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar 

functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, manage-

ment, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial 

reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as  

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 

authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) 

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets 

that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial 

reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management 

override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may 

not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial 

reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company  

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 

January 1, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the 

criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all  

material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 

January 1, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control 

— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 

financial statements as of and for the year ended January 1, 2005 of the 

Company and our report dated February 24, 2005 expressed an unqual-

ified opinion on those financial statements and includes an explanatory 

paragraph relating to the adoption of FASB Interpretation 46R and the 

change in reportable segments.

 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, WI

February 24, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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EXCHANGE LISTING
Snap-on Incorporated’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol SNA.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43069
Providence, RI 02940-3069, U.S.A.

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES
Shareholders with questions may call the Transfer Agent, EquiServe 
Trust Company, toll free at 800-446-2617 (in the United States) or  
781-575-2723 (outside the United States). The deaf and hearing-
impaired may call 800-952-9245. An interactive automated system is 
available 24 hours a day, every day. Operators are available Monday 
through Friday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Eastern time. You may also contact 
them through www.equiserve.com.

CERTIFICATE TRANSFERS
By mail:
EquiServe
P.O. Box 43070
Providence, RI 02940-3070, U.S.A.

By overnight mail or private courier:
EquiServe 
ATTN: Shareholder Relations
66 Brooks Drive
Braintree, MA 02184, U.S.A.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
Investors may purchase stock directly from the company and increase 
their investment through a no-commission dividend reinvestment and 
direct stock purchase plan. For information write to:
EquiServe 
Dividend Reinvestment Service
P.O. Box 43081
Providence, RI 02940-3081, U.S.A.

ANTICIPATED DIVIDEND RECORD AND PAY DATES FOR 2005

QUARTER RECORD DATE PAY DATE

First February 17 March 10
Second May 20 June 10
Third August 19 September 9
Fourth November 18 December 9

FORM 10-K AND OTHER FINANCIAL PUBLICATIONS
These publications are available without charge. Visit our Website, 
contact the Snap-on investor relations department at P.O. Box 1430, 
Kenosha, WI 53141-1430, call 262-656-4808 (recorded message), or 
send an e-mail to financials@snapon.com.

WEBSITE
Snap-on’s Website contains 10-Qs, 10-Ks, news releases, annual reports, 
and information about Snap-on’s dividend reinvestment and direct stock 
purchase plan. Our address is www.snapon.com.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
555 East Wells Street, Suite 1400
Milwaukee, WI 53202-3824

ANNUAL MEETING 
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at Oak Brook Hills 
Conference Center, 3500 Midwest Road, Oak Brook, Illinois, 60523 at 
10:00 a.m. on Friday, April 22, 2005. The meeting will also be available 
via Webcast at www.snapon.com.

CORPORATE OFFICES
P.O. Box 1430
Kenosha, WI 53141-1430, U.S.A.
262-656-5200

TRADEMARKS
The following are trademarks or registered trademarks of Snap-on 
Incorporated or its affiliates:

Bahco OnDemand5
Black Lights ScanBay
Blue Point Scanner
Build-a-Bay Snap-on
Color Graphing Scanner SOLUS
IRIMO TIP
John Bean Trans-Drive
MODIS VODI 

All other marks are trademarks of their respective holders.

GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS
Gross margin: Net sales less cost of goods sold.

ROE (Return on average shareholders’ equity): Current year net earnings 
divided by average shareholders’ equity (average of the last two years). 
ROE is a measurement of the profit generated on capital retained in the 
company by shareholders.

Total invested capital: The sum of invested funds in the company as 
calculated by adding total net debt (notes payable plus long-term debt, 
including current maturities, net of cash) plus total shareholders’ equity.

Working capital: Current assets less current liabilities. Working capital 
reflects the amount of money being used to finance current operations.

Working investment: Accounts receivable net of al lowances plus  
inventories less accounts payable. Focused on those elements within 
operating control (included in current assets and current liabilities), 
working investment is a measurement of a company’s effectiveness in 
using invested money to support current sales levels.

Working investment turns: Total revenue divided by working investment.

MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATIONS
The Company has filed as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
fiscal year 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
of the Company required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The Company has submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the Annual 
CEO Certification required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock 
Exchange Listed Company Manual.
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